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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson (Chairman)
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico

Mr. Steven McManaman

Mr. Fan Zhi Yi

Mr. Lee Yiu Tung

Mr. Ip Wing Lun

Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu
Mr. Chan Wai Keung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chang Kin Man

Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond

Mr. Zhou Han Ping

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ip Wing Lun

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Chang Kin Man

Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond

Mr. Zhou Han Ping

NOMINATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chang Kin Man

Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond

Mr. Zhou Han Ping

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit 3008, 30/F, West Tower,

Shun Tak Centre,
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Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LREH
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Cayman lIslands
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Cayman lIslands, British West Indies

Hong Kong Branch share registrar
Tricor Tengis Limited

26/F., Tesbury Centre
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Wanchai, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/grandtop/index.htm

AUDITORS
Shu Lun Pan Hong Kong CPA Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE COMPANY

As to Hong Kong law
Robertsons Solicitors & Notaries
ONC Lawyers

As to Cayman Islands law
Conyers Dill & Pearman, Cayman

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Wing Lung Bank Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

STOCK CODE
2309
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER®E

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Grandtop
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to report the annual results of the Company together with its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2009.

PERFORMANCE

For the financial year ended 31 March 2009, the Group
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$10,660,000 (2008:
HK$20,595,000), representing a decrease of 48.2% compared
to the last corresponding year. The Group’s loss attributable
to shareholders was approximately HK$91,677,000 (2008:
HK$152,133,000), loss per share was 10.96 cents (2008: 22.47
cents).

REVIEW AND LOOKING FORWARD

Our Company endeavors formulating business plans to expand
revenue by entering entertainment business into the Group in
order to increase gross profit margin of the Group. Although
under the global financial crisis, the Group is constantly exploring
new business opportunities in order to achieve better returns for
our shareholders and will continue to seek merger and acquisition
opportunities so as to enhance the shareholders’ value.

APPRECIATION

On the behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my gratitude to our customers for their continued
trust and support. | would also like to express our appreciation
to the management and staff members for their hard work and
significant contribution to the Group in the past year. Finally,
| would like to thank our shareholders for their support to the
Company.

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 July 2009
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREFWES W

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded
a consolidated turnover of approximately HK$10.7 million,
representing a decrease of 48.1% compared to the turnover of
approximately HK$20.6 million in the last financial year. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease of the sales of apparel
trading business. However, the Group has entered into new
business segment which is entertainment business during the
year.

The Group’s turnover for the year under review was derived from
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom markets and accounted
for 78.1% and 21.9% respectively. In the last financial year,
the Group’s turnover was derived from Macau and the United
Kingdom markets and accounted for 73.3% and 26.7%
respectively.

During the financial year, the gross profit margin of the Group was
38.9% while it was 14.7% in the last financial year. The significant
increase in the gross profit margin was mainly due to high
gross profit margin in entertainment business in Hong Kong and
sportswear & apparel trading business in the United Kingdom.

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 was
decreased by 39.7% to approximately HK$91.7 million from the
loss for the year of approximately HK$152.1 million in the last
financial year. Such loss of the Group was mainly due to a very
significant impairment loss on the investment in Birmingham City
Plc..

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Company engages in investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are businesses of entertainment,
apparel sourcing, sportswear & apparel trading and investment
holding. During the year under review, the Group entered into
entertainment business because of diversification of business and
high profit margin in this business. For the existing sportswear
& apparel trading business in the United Kingdom, the Group
decided to minimise this business because the high competitive
market in United Kingdom.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREFWES W

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

(Continued)
Although the Group is facing the global financial turmoil and poor
market conditions, the Group will continue to explore and identify
investment opportunities to add into the Group’s investments in
order to enhance the shareholders’ value by its organic growth.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 March
2009 (2008: HK$Nil), nor has any dividend been proposed since
the balance sheet date.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2009, the cash and bank balances of the Group

were approximately HK$3,000,000, representing a decrease of

57.7% compared to the cash and bank balances of approximately

HK$7,100,000 as at the last financial year end. The current ratio

of the Group as at 31 March 2009 was 13.2% (31 March 2008:

24.6%).

CAPITAL RAISING

The Company entered into subscription agreement dated 7
May 2008 (the “Subscription Agreement”) and supplemental
agreement dated 4 June 2008 (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
with Pacific Capital Investment Management Limited (“Pacific
Capital”) to issue convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”)
by the Company for an aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$200,000,000 which was approved as an ordinary resolution
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 7
July 2008. During the year, the Convertible Notes in the principal
amount of HK$20,000,000 were issued. On 11 August 2008,
23 September 2008, 20 November 2008, 18 February 2009, 13
March 2009, 6 April 2009 and 30 April 2009, conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Notes in the principal amounts of
HK$6,000,000, HK$2,500,000, HK$1,500,000, HK$2,500,000,
HK$2,500,000, HK$2,500,000 and HK$2,500,000 were exercised
respectively, resulting in the allotment and issue of 49,586,000
shares, 50,000,000 shares, 30,000,000 shares, 47,169,000
shares, 48,076,000 shares, 45,454,000 shares and 45,454,000
shares respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREFWES W

CAPITAL RAISING (Continued)

The Company entered into termination agreement on 5 June 2009
with Pacific Capital to cancel and terminate the Subscription
Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement in respect of the
Convertible Notes under mutual agreement. The Company and
Pacific Capital agreed to release and discharge each other
from all obligations under Subscription Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement. Further details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 June 2009.

On 7 June 2009, Great Luck Management Limited and Mr. Yeung
Ka Sing, Carson (the “Vendors”), the Company and the placing
agent entered into the top-up placing and subscription agreement
pursuant to which, the Vendors agreed to place, through the
placing agent, an aggregate of 150,000,000 existing shares. The
gross proceeds from the top-up subscription are HK$60,000,000.
The net proceeds of approximately HK$58,000,000 from the
top-up subscription are intended to be used as general working
capital of the Group, for expansion of the Group’s business and/or
possible investments in the future when opportunities arise. The
details of the top-up placing and subscription agreement were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 8 June 2009.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through its
investment in quoted equity securities in Birmingham City Plc.
with a carrying value of approximately HK$60.4 million (31
March 2008: HK$134.4 million) as at 31 March 2009 that are
denominated in Pound Sterling (“£"), which was acquired during
the year of 2008.

COMMITMENT
As at 31 March 2009 and 2008, the Company and the Group did
not have any capital commitment.

PLEDGE OF GROUP’S ASSET

As at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008, the property of Sun
Tai Hing Garment Making Company Limited (“Sun Tai Hing”), a
subsidiary of the Company, was charged by the plaintiff for the
claim in a writ on 11 September 2007. Save as the above, the
Group did not have assets charged nor pledged to secure any
outstanding borrowing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREFWES W

HUMAN RESOURCE

The Group employs approximately 50 employees and their
remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individual merit. Salaries are normally review
on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and other
relevant factors.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A writ was filed against the Group entities in respect of a claim
for reimbursement of expenses paid on behalf of the Group
amounting to approximately HK$3,000,000 on 26 July 2006.
The Company was not aware of such alleged payments and had
instructed lawyers to deal with the matter. Based on the written
legal opinion from the legal counsel, the board of directors is of
the opinion that the claim is not justifiable and without merit.

A writ was filed by Siu Ban & Sons Limited (“Siu Ban”) against
Sun Tai Hing, a subsidiary of the Company, on 11 September
2007 in respect of a claim for the return of the property of Sun
Tai Hing located in Hong Kong (the “Property”) and damages
for costs and loss of interest Siu Ban claimed that Sun Tai Hing
did not pay the purchase consideration for the acquisition of the
Property in May 2002. The Property was also charged by the
plaintiff for this claim. The board of directors is of the opinion that
the claim is not justifiable and without merit.

SIGNIFICANT POST BALANCE SHEET
NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS

The Company entered into termination agreement on 5 June 2009
with Pacific Capital to cancel and terminate the Subscription
Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement in respect of the
Convertible Notes under mutual agreement. The Company and
Pacific Capital agreed to release and discharge each other
from all obligations under Subscription Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement. Further details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 June 2009.

On 7 June 2009, Great Luck Management Limited and Mr. Yeung
Ka Sing, Carson (“Vendors”), the Company and the placing agent
entered into the top-up placing and subscription agreement
pursuant to which, the Vendors agreed to place, through the
placing agent, an aggregate of 150,000,000 existing shares. The
gross proceeds from the top-up subscription are HK$60,000,000.
The net proceeds of approximately HK$58,000,000 from the
top-up subscription are intended to be used as general working
capital of the Group, for expansion of the Group’s business and/or
possible investments in the future when opportunities arise. The
details of the top-up placing and subscription agreement were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 8 June 2009.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, aged 49, has accumulated many
years of experience in international investments. He has been
the Chairman of Hong Kong Rangers Football Club during
2005 to 2006. Mr. Yeung is a director of Universal Management
Consultancy Limited and Universal Energy Resources Holdings
Limited. He was appointed as an executive director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 20 July 2007.

Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico, aged 43, has accumulated over 20 years
of experience in management of business trade and project
investments. Mr. Hui also has extensive experience in corporate
finance and in international investments. He was appointed as an
executive director on 20 June 2007.

Mr. Steven McManaman, aged 37, has accumulated over 15
years of experience in football industry. He is a former English
footballer of the 1990s and early 2000s, who played in a career
spanning two of European Football’s biggest club in Liverpool
F.C. and Real Madrid F.C. Mr. McManaman has substantial
experience in the management of football club and its continuing
development. He was appointed as an executive director on 2
July 2007.

Mr. Fan Zhi Yi, aged 39, has accumulated over 20 years of
experience in professional football, and was a member of Chinese
National Football Team (the “National Team”). He was appointed
as the captain of the National Team in 1996, and was awarded
Mr. Football of Asia in 2002. He played in Crystal Palace Football
Club in England, and became the first Chinese player who joined
a professional football club in England. Mr. Fan has substantial
experience in the management of football club and its continuing
development, and can help promotion in the PRC market. He was
appointed as an executive director on 5 November 2007.

Mr. Lee Yiu Tung, aged 46, is a registered architect in Hong
Kong with extensive working experiences related to PRC property
development, project management and development consultant
services. Mr. Lee is a member of Royal Institute of British
Architects and Hong Kong Institute of Architects. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts in Architectural Studies with Honors, a Bachelor
of Architecture and a Master of Science degree in Real Estate all
from the University of Hong Kong. He also holds a qualification
of Real Estate Planner recognized by the Ministry of Labor and
Social Security, PRC. He was appointed as an executive director
on 13 June 2006.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ip Wing Lun, aged 41, is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip is currently an independent non-
executive director of China Energy Development Holdings Limited
(stock code: 228) which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ip holds a Master degree
of Business Administration and is a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member
of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrator, the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. He has over 15 years of experience in
auditing, taxation and provision of financial consultancy services
of companies in Hong Kong and the PRC. He was re-designated
as an executive director on 17 July 2007. On 5 December 2006,
he was appointed as an independent non-executive director and
re-designated as a non-executive director on 22 May 2007. He
is a spouse of Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline who is the executive
director of the Company.

Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline, aged 31, is an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. She is
also an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrator and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. She holds a Master degree of Corporate Governance
and a Bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy. Ms. Wong has more
than 10 years of experience in financial accounting, management
accounting and auditing, including working experience in other
listed companies. She was appointed as an executive director
on 29 May 2007. She is a spouse of Mr. Ip Wing Lun who is the
executive director of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu, aged 38, has accumulated over
20 years of experience in professional football and a member
of the French National Team which won the World Cup in
1998. He played in a career spanning famous football clubs in
Middlesbrough F.C., Real Madrid F.C. and Sampdoria F.C.. Mr.
Karembeu has substantial experience in the management of
football club and its continuing development. He was appointed
as a non-executive director on 7 August 2007.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFRE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Mr. Chan Wai Keung, aged 56, is the committee member of
the People’s Political Consultation Committee of Lungguang,
Shenzhen, the PRC since 1998. Currently, he is an executive
director of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock
code: 228) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong. He is also the President of Global
Resources Recovery (Canada) Inc., GRR Conception Recycling
Inc. and the chief executive officer of True Product ID Technology
Limited, China Fishery and Agriculture Bioenvironmental
Technology (Hong Kong) Ltd. and Sure Trace Security
Corporation (shares of which are listed in OTC Bulletin Board).
Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience in the operation of
business development, China trade, international trade and
venture capital etc. He was appointed as a non-executive director
on 12 December 2007.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Kin Man, aged 45 is a certified public accountant in
Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chang holds
a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics and a Master’s
degree in Applied Finance. Mr. Chang has extensive experience
in corporate finance and in accounting field. He worked for
an international accounting firm and a number of public listed
companies for more than 15 years. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Energy Development Holdings
Limited (stock code: 228) and China Water Industry Group
Limited (stock code: 1129), both are listed companies on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 13 July 2006.

EMITEE D)

REMEE 56 BE—NLANFRAFR
BARB AHEEZ A TEEREZER
ZE - BRBEARBBBIMER L2
B A2 R 21 AR B IR A & (B K 55% - 228)
Z ¥ 17 & F ° % J5 B Global Resources
Recovery (Canada) Inc. & GRR
Conception Recycling Inc. #2% © W & IE
mEMEHEBRAR - FEUAREEYIRE
BHE (EFHB)BMR AR & Sure Trace Security
Corporation (RN EEBIGINE FRHIR
EMZERHNITE - REERKEE R
RE- FEZES BEERESRERBRERASH
EHEAHBBSFLR - BFR_ZEZLF+=
A+ ZABZARIENITES -

BIFRITESE

MEBEEE - 4557 BEAXE M6 2E
FF ARG AEEREBERE S
NEZEE BEARBRKESESLEM
NERMBRELEM - BEEREERE
REedhEHAEEELER  REER—KH
RETMEBIRSERETRRBISF ©
HBRETEERAZRZERAR2A(RMDK
5% : 228) R BUKEEBEAR AR (B H K
S 129) 2 BWAUFERTESE  ZERAYT
RRBZMERETZAF - RR BT
FLAT=ZREZERBILIFRNTES -

J5L % B PR 422 B 5 IR A §] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 &3k



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, aged 41, has over 12 years of
work experience in auditing, accounting, taxation, company
secretarial, corporate finance and financial management, in both
private and listed companies. Mr. Yau is an associate member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Willie International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 273) which is listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and he is currently a chairman and
executive director of iMerchants Limited (stock code: 8009) which
is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Yau holds a Master degree in Science majoring in Japanese
business studies and Bachelor degree in Business Administration
majoring in accounting in the United States of America. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 9 October
2007.

Mr. Zhou Han Ping, aged 39, graduated in Guangzhou Institute of
Foreign Trade in 1994. Mr. Zhou was an Export & Import Manager
of China National Packaging Import & Export Corporation) (/
FEaFEHO# A R). Mr. Zhou was a Manager of South China
Region of CIMC (China International Marine Container Holding
Limited) (BB EESRME (SE) MHBRAR) .
10 years experience in International Trade Settlement. Now, Mr.

He had over

Zhou is Managing Director of Shenzhen Miao Fang Development
Company Limited CRYITE A EHEZBERAT) since 2002. He
was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 28
February 2007.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRSE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2009.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial
to improve the efficiency and performance of the Group and to
safeguard the interests of the shareholders. The Company has
applied the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rule and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
Code, except the following:

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Company deviates from the above code provision as one
of non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and all independent non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”) are not appointed for specific
terms. According to the provisions of the Company’s Articles
of Association, however, the NEDs and INEDs are subject to
retirement and re-election. The reason for the deviation is that
the Company believes that the Directors ought to be committed
to representing the long term interest of the Company’s
shareholders.

Code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Pursuant
to the Company’s Articles of Association, the chairman shall not
be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of directors to retire in each year. In order
to ensure the smooth running and continuous adhering to the
strategic view of the Company, the Company believes that the
position of chairman is more practical to be maintained and not to
be subject to retirement by rotation.

Code provision E1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
(the “Chairman”) should attend the annual general meeting (the
“AGM”). The Chairman was unable to attend the AGM on 28
August 2008 due to his business trip but he has designated the
Executive Director of the Company to answer questions raised at
the AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRSE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the full set of Model Code set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of the conduct
for securities transactions by directors (the “Model Code”). The
prohibitions on securities dealing and disclosure requirements
in the Model Code apply to specified individuals including the
Group’s senior management and also persons who are privy to
price sensitive information of the Group. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the Board confirms that the directors
of the Company have complied with the Model Code regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the year and up to the
date of publication of this Annual Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The Company has a separate chairman and chief executive
officer. The two positions are assumed by different persons, in
order to ensure that their independence, accountability and power
are clear. Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, the chairman of the Board,
is responsible for the operation of the Board and the formulation
of the Company’s strategies and policies, Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico,
the chief executive officer, with the assistance of other members
of the Board and senior management, is responsible for the
management of the Company’s business, the implementation of
significant policies, the daily operational decisions as well as the
coordination of the overall.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(a) Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises
a total of twelve members including seven executive
directors, two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. Members of the
Board have different professional and relevant industry
experiences and background so as to bring in valuable
contributions and advices for the development of the
Group’s business. Five out of twelve of the Board is non-
executive directors and independent non-executive
directors and two of them are qualified accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive director of their
independence to the Group. The Group considered
that all independent non-executive directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. The names of the directors and their
respective biographies are set out on pages 9 to 12 of this
Annual Report.

The Board holds meetings on a regular basis and will
meet on other occasions when a board-level decision on a
particular matter is required. The Board also monitors and
controls financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives. The names of the directors during the
financial year and their individual attendance of are set out
below:

EFg®

(b)
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Audit
Board Committee
Name of Directors EElE EEg =AY
Executive: BiTES:
Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson (Chairman) BRBAE(FE) 6/16 N/A i A
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico RS 10/16 N/A 7 i A
Mr. Steven McManaman Steven McManaman %t 4 0/16 N/A 7 i A
Mr. Fan Zhi Yi BERSEE 0/16 N/A 73 A
Mr. Lee Yiu Tung FIRREE 14/16 N/A i A
Mr. Ip Wing Lun BEikfmocE 14/16 N/A 15 A
Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline TERZLT 16/16 N/A 15 A
Ms. Bessie Siu e
(retired on 28 August 2008) (RZZZENFENAZ+NRAEMD) 0/6 N/A 7~ A
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

EEE®)

Audit
Board Committee
Name of Directors EElNa EEg EREEY
Non-executive: FERITESF :
Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu Christian Lali Karembeu 5t 4 0/16 N/A 73 A
Mr. Chan Wai Keung PRIZE S E 0/16 N/A 15 A
Independent non-executive: BIFERTESE :
Mr. Chang Kin Man EfER S E 7/16 3/3
Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond B AR A 2/16 3/3
Mr. Zhou Han Ping JEE T 1/16 1/3
Mr. Yip Man Ki 3¢ % e
(resigned on 22 January 2009) (RZZTTNF—AZ+ZHEIFE) 2/14 1/3

(d)

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, oversee the Group’s businesses and
evaluate the performance of the Group. The Board also
focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of
the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
to Executive Directors and senior management, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval. When
the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to Management, it has given
clear directions as to the powers of the Management,
in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
Management shall report back and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRSE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board appointed two directors Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu
and Mr. Chan Wai Keung, as Non-executive Directors on 7 August
2007 and 12 December 2007 respectively. They are subject to
retirement and eligible for election in annual general meeting in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a Nomination Committee which comprises
three independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chang Kin Man,
Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond and Mr. Zhou Han Ping up to the
date of this report. Mr. Yip Man Ki was resigned on 22 January
2009. It is chaired by Mr. Chang Kin Man. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee have been reviewed with reference
to the Code.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of directors, and assessment of the
independence of the independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships by making reference
to the skills, experience, professional knowledge and personal
integrity of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for considering
and approving the appointment of its members and making
recommendations to shareholders on directors standing for re-
election, providing sufficient biographical details of directors to
enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the re-
election and where necessary, nominate and appoint directors
to fill casual vacancies. The chairman may in conjunction with
the other directors from time to time review the composition
of the Board with particular regard to ensuring that there is an
appropriate number of directors on the Board independent of
management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a Remuneration Committee which
comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Chang Kin Man, Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, and Mr. Zhou Han
Ping up to the date of this report. Mr. Yip Man Ki was resigned
on 22 January 2009. Mr. Chang Kin Man is the chairman of the
Committee.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance
of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets annually for
reviewing the remuneration policy and structure and determination
of the annual remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management and other related matters. The
Remuneration Committee shall consult the Board about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold any meetings during
the year ended 31 March 2009 for reviewing the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company and remuneration packages
of the executive directors and the senior management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Emolument Policy

The directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles of determining the
directors’ remuneration:

— No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration;

— Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies
with who the Group competes for human resources;

— Remuneration should reflect performance.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme is
adopted for rewarding good performers as well as retaining
talented staff for the continual operation and development of the
Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises of three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Chang Kin Man (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond and Mr. Zhou Han
Ping up to the date of this report. Mr. Yip Man Ki was resigned on
22 January 2009. Mr. Chang and Mr. Yau both are certified public
accountants.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

— To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, compliance officer or external

auditors before submission to the Board;

— To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditors;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRSE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)
To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system,
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

internal control

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 March 2009 including the review the financial results and
reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, and the
re-appointment of the external auditors.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Board has not taken
any different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external
auditors.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2009
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$600,000 was charged to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2009 for the auditing services provided by Shu Lun
Pan Hong Kong CPA Limited, the existing auditors who were
appointed on 3 September 2007. Other current provisions of
auditors’ remuneration is made for audit service of auditors of
other group entities. There is no significant non-audit service
assignment provided by Shu Lun Pan Hong Kong CPA Limited
during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group. The Group’s internal
control system includes a defined management structure with
limits of authority, is designed to help the achievement of business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operation
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives. The Board
throughout the Group maintains and monitors the internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) have pleasure in submitting
their report together with the audited financial statements of
Grandtop International Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred as
to the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred as to the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are engaged in provision of
apparel sourcing, sportswear & apparel trading and entertainment
business. The activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries
are set out in Note 19 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 34.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2009 are set out in the consolidated and Company’s balance
sheets on page 35 and 36 respectively.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
nor transfer of any amount to reserves in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2009 (2008: HK$Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to the results
by principal activities for the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out
in Note 5 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and of the Company during the year are set out in Note 16
to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the year are set out in Notes 28 and 32 to
the financial statements respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 37 and Note 29 to the
financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 116.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico
Mr. Steven McManaman
Mr. Fan Zhi Yi
Mr. Lee Yiu Tung
Mr. Ip Wing Lun
Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline
Ms. Bessie Siu
(retired on 28 August 2008)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu
Mr. Chan Wai Keung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chang Kin Man
Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond
Mr. Zhou Han Ping
Mr. Yip Man Ki
(resigned on 22 January 2009)

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, the Chairman of the
Company, shall not be subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico, Mr. Steven
McManaman and Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting (*AGM”) and
shall be eligible for re-election. Mr. Fan Zhi Yi will retire at the
AGM in accordance with Article 87(1) but does not offer himself
for re-election at the AGM for personal reasons.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
on page 9 to 12 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Mr. Steven McManaman, an executive Director, has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for an initial fixed
term of 3 years commencing from 2 July 2007 which is subject
to termination with six months’ notice in writing served by
either party to the other party or payment in lieu of notice.
Mr. McManaman is entitled to a monthly director’'s salary of
HK$100,000 which was determined by the Board on the basis of
his qualification, experience and level of responsibilities and by
reference to market benchmark. In 1 August 2008, the changes of
the terms of employment under the service agreement have been
made with the Company regarding a monthly director’s salary
changed from HK$100,000 to HK$50,000 with effect from 1
August 2008. Other than the rate of monthly director’s salary, the
remaining terms of service agreement shall be unaffected. He is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu, an non-executive Director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial fixed term of 3 years commencing from 7 August 2007
which is subject to termination with six months’ notice in writing
served by either party to the other party or payment in lieu of
notice. Mr. Karembeu is entitled to a monthly director’s salary of
HK$100,000 which was determined by the Board on the basis of
his qualification, experience and level of responsibilities and by
reference to market benchmark. In 1 August 2008, the changes of
the terms of employment under the service agreement have been
made with the Company regarding a monthly director’s salary
changed from HK$100,000 to HK$50,000 with effect from 1
August 2008. Other than the rate of monthly director’s salary, the
remaining terms of service agreement shall be unaffected. He is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Save as the above, none of the directors has a services contract
with Company and of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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EFEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the interests of the Directors and chief

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as recorded in the register required

EFzEShiER

AR R SHEAIE R RN F R EFERER
NEME AR ETERXHEERE
AEEMBAREXBEEERZEMNA
e

EFEZEGER

= A
A
;r

F=A=+—H
RO 5 REIE1&HI ) % 352 1638 E A
RAATREZERMAIR  SEERARA
AEEZITHABRAR A S H F A EE
(EERBHFRBPEROEXVE) Z KM -

CiRIBEE S R

to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or EEARM RES 2R - iR BIEE<FAA
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange  [AZAAGMEIZFIIHE 2 EmmT ¢
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
(i) Shares (i) B in
Percentage
of the
Number of issued share
issued capital of the
ordinary Company
shares held EELT
Name of directors Nature of interest Notes FRBERT BRI
EEfS Hang Mz HERHE BFEESL
Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson Held by controlled corporation (1) 115,200,000 (L) 11.69%
BHRHEE ARSI B
Personal interest 53,304,000 (L) 5.41%
B Az
168,504,000 17.10%
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico Held by controlled corporation 2) 63,000,000 (L) 6.39%
IR LA NZEEIAREE
Family interest (3) 18,975,000 (L) 1.93%
E 3
81,975,000 8.32%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

(i) Shares (Continued)

The letter “L” denotes a long position in shares of the Company.

Notes:

(@) These Shares were held by Great Luck Management Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and wholly
owned by Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson.

(2) These Shares were held by Premier Rise Investments Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and wholly

owned by Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico.

(3) These Shares were held by Ms. Leung Choi Fan, the spouse of Mr.
Hui Ho Luek, Vico.

(ii) Share options

EECESHR®

(i) BipGE)
[LIRERRAERRIBD 2R ©

st

HZEBRNBBHEEEERARFA %A
AN EBRELFESEMATL - L HHER
MELEREYER °

(

—
—

@) HZEBRNBBEREARARFAE %A
AN EBE LR S EMMAL - WHFFE

BRAEEZERER

(3) HERMBFIERCEZRBRY S 2L
A -

(ii) ARk

Nature of Number of Exercise price
Name of director interest options held per share Expiry date
EEgR RaKEH FRisHEE B BSREGTEE EHERH
HK$
BT
Mr. Steven McManaman Beneficial owner 2,000,000 1.126 20 August 2017

Steven McManaman 4  Em#EA A

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the
Directors and chief executives and their associates has any
interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 & 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests which they are
taken or deemed to have under section 344 of the SFO), or which
are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.
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EFEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2009, the following parties (not being Directors
or chief executive of the Company disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities”) had an interest in 5% or more
of the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

FRER

R-ZETAF=A=+—0  REZH LY
EGPIFE 3B IEREARBRETREZER
MAR - PIAT(EFZESEm ] &
PIREZ A RRERREIZTHABRIN)

AR B 2 B dn BB B R 0 7 BB 5% 3k BA

section 336 of the SFO. R o
Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
ordinary share capital
Name of shares held of the Company
shareholders Capacity Notes FRIBERTT HELTRERT
BRBE 517 Hist LERBE BFEESL
Pacific Capital Investment Beneficial owner 1 3,772,364,000 Long Position 382.92%
Management Limited ERBEEA A
1 50,000,000  Short Position 5.08%
wE
Collins Micheal Beneficial owner 1 3,772,364,000 Long Position 382.92%
X ZSUN e
1 50,000,000  Short Position 5.08%
R
Huge Gain Development Beneficial owner 2 96,000,000 Long Position 9.74%
Limited EalaA iE
Nerine Trust Company Limited Trustee of trust 2 96,000,000 Long Position 9.74%
FEE 2 ZFEA e
Notes: Htet -

(1)

Pacific Capital Investment Management Limited (“PCIM”) is wholly
owned by Collins Micheal. On 7 May 2008, PCIM entered into a
subscription agreement with the Company, pursuant to which PCIM
agrees to subscribe for convertible notes for an aggregate principal
amount of up to HK$200,000,000 to be issued by the Company, the
minimum conversion price is HK$0.05. (Details of the convertible
notes of the Company are set out in Note 27 to the financial
statements.)

Huge Gain Development Limited is wholly owned by Nerine Trust
Company Limited (“Nerine Trust”). Nerine Trust is the trustee of SB
Unit Trust and holds properties for the benefit of holders of units
issued by SB Unit Trust. All the units issued by SB Unit Trust were
held by the family members of Mr. Siu Ban, co-founder of the Group
and the discretionary objects.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, no person had

registered an interest and short positions in the share capital of

the Company that was required to be recorded under Section 336
of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the
year. Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to date of this report, no director of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is considered to have an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group,
pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those business of which
the directors were appointed as directors to represent the interest
of the Company and/or the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
below, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate. None of the directors, or their spouses
or their children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for the shares of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

ME MOXHEFLFZL
L€

FA RNARABBEREMMBRGD - FA -
ARABREEAMBARLERE - BE
HEARRRZEM LHES

EFERREUEREzED

REFARBERRE DS - ARRHEE
MMBARZESMEREREE(RE L
mARA)BEAKEEXBBXNEZKEREHF
R BT X T RA LD EEF
BZERRKRARAR FAKEEENS
B2 HHFRIBRSN o

2k hRBx 4
ARAZABERAANRFASHS(KAH
SRR ST A E 2 A AR ) 4 Bl M 851
BARRAARLARLRERER2HEH
RiD 2 BABEREAT -

EFRMEORRFZHRN

BT X BREst 8 I EEE SN ARE] -
H PR B s HAE (R 8 2 B0 6 AR fRT B
MY ESEERLZH BEARBAZERHE
BARRBREMEMEBRZ RO REST
RN - EEREEF 2EBIAM T/
ZFERFARERFRBARRRMN 2 E
AR R E TR BRAER -

J5L % B PR 422 B 5 IR A §] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 &3k



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the old share option scheme and new share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 22 October 2002 and 30 July 2007
respectively, the board of directors of the Company may, at its
discretion, grant options to eligible participants to subscribe for
share in the Company. The details of share option scheme are set
out in Note 32 to the financial statements.

Details of the movements of share options granted under the old
scheme and new scheme during the year are set out below:

PR st &
BREAAASIR-_TE-F+A-+_H
—EELFEASH AR ERRET
BRHERESE  AAREFRTRER
AERSINE B - ARBALD AR
{5 o SRR BIFE IS RN B TR R M 3E 32 -

AR AR E A R BB 2 AR
FR2EBEENT -

Outstanding

Outstanding as at
as at 1 31 March
April 2008 Granted Cancelled Exercised 2009
N_EENE during during during RZZZTHAF Exercise
Date of grant mA—H the year the year theyear Z=HA=+-—H price
tehi=h ARTE RERRH RERES RERNTE KT8 &R
Directors:
e
Lee Yiu Tung 21 August 2007 6,912,000 — (6,912,000) — — 1.126
£ S
NEZ+—H
Ip Wing Lun 21 August 2007 6,912,000 — (6,912,000) — — 1.126
Eikfa “EERLE
NAZ+—H
Wong Po Ling, Pauline 21 August 2007 6,912,000 — (6,912,000) - — 1.126
IER ZETLF
NAZ+—H
Steven McManaman 21 August 2007 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000 1.126
Steven McManamants —ET+F
NEZ+—H
Sub-total 22,736,000 — (20,736,000) - 2,000,000
it
Employees:
EE:
7 June 2007 24,000,000 — - - 24,000,000 0.500
“ETLE
~AtH
21 August 2007 24,384,000 - (24,384,000) — - 1.126
“ETLE
NEZ+—H
Sub-total 48,384,000 — (24,384,000) - 24,000,000
it
Grand total 71,120,000 — (45,120,000) - 26,000,000
#m
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 13 to 20
to this Annual Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made specific
enquiry to all the Directors of the Company, all the Directors of
the Company confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding the
Model Code adopted by the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established
on 22 October 2002 in accordance with the requirements of
the Code of Best Practices set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors of the Company up to the date of this report.

During the year, the Audit Committee met with the Group’s
executive directors, senior management and the external auditors
to consider and review the Group’s financial statements, the
nature and scope of audit reviews, and the effectiveness of the
system of internal control and compliance. The Audit Committee
held three meetings during the year. The Audit Committee had
reviewed the audited annual financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2009 and communicated with external auditors
before recommending them to the Board of Directors for approval.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Shu Lun Pan Hong
Kong CPA Limited (formerly known as Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong
Kong CPA Limited) and will hold office until the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and retire
(the “Retirement”).

On 1 May 2009, Shu Lun Pan Hong Kong CPA Limited has
merged their business with BDO McCabe Lo Limited and
renamed as BDO Limited on the same date. As such, the
Company proposes to appoint BDO Limited as the new auditors
of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting to fill
in the casual vacancy due to the Retirement.

On behalf of the Board
Hui Ho Luek, Vico
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 July 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Bi R BED IR E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Grandtop International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 34 to
115, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 March 2009, the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Shu Lun Pan Hong Kong CPA Limited
F LA @SR FR TR R E)

20" Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 2598 4100

Facsimile 1 (852) 2810 0502

audit@slp.com.hk
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

$5 37 #% B B 3R

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED J5k #% Bl % 2 B2 /5 BR 2 &
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 & #R

EHEZRE

BEECRERREBES 2R HRHE®MK

EHER  TERBEZFRZEZZBERRA

BERRSRE Btz ARERIEEME
c BENEUABEZ AT AEMEMA

TA ESAREREE -

3.:17%E*ETFéﬁ%éﬁﬁﬂi“‘\ﬁﬁﬁzéi\%%ﬁ
HAETEZ - ZFEUBRESZETER
R YR RATES  SEBEEMF
BREGTFEEMNERBREML -

BERZERWITIEF AU M 5K E
BELBBEERMTEZELRE - MEEZ
12 P HUR X BN 2 #I T - B4ERHE BRI
FFEk IR AR M B B I R 7 £ E R R
ZE R o ERHEZEFERE - XA E B E
E/Aﬂﬁﬁ%&ﬁfﬁﬁ"?fmiﬂﬁﬁ“i&%*ﬁ
Flc MEREEIE - URGHEE 2B % ERF - A

WIBHZA TZP%BEFT’“& EEAER -
ERNEREFEEEMRAZEFTHREZA
EERAER 2 @5t 2 AT - ARG
EBUFEHRERZBEB25R -

EERE BEMERZBERRERRRR
HEEWRBESFZEBRERRHRER -



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Bi R BED IR E

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 March 2009 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

SHU LUN PAN HONG KONG CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

24 July 2009

Choi Man On

Practising Certificate number P02410

20th Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

FeiRaR

For the year ended 31 March 2009
B EENF=A=F—HIFFE

2009 2008
—EThE —ZET)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HteE FET FEr
Turnover ] 6 10,660 20,595
Cost of sales SHE A (6,513) (17,574)
Gross profit EF 4,147 3,021
Other revenue and net gains Hhilam RBFFEE 7 986 404
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y% - BB REEZRE
equipment &8 16 — (1,919)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AL ESREE ZRE
financial assets 518 21 (73,945) (110,923)
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEUR B 5B 2 B &8 23(ii) (1,333) (1,745)
Selling expenses HERE (2,000) (790)
Administrative expenses TR (19,072) (29,563)
Share-based payments LARRAD 21+ 2 308 32 — (10,200)
Finance costs ELEE D@ 8 (538) =
Loss before taxation MR B E B 9 (91,755) (151,715)
Income tax FriE#t 10 78 (418)
Loss for the year attributable to equity NARIRERZRE A
holders of the Company ELANFEEE 13 (91,677) (152,133)
Dividend BR 14 — —
Loss per share BRER 15
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — BEARKEEE (B(L) (10.96) (22.47)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
FERERRE

As at 31 March 2009
REZFENF=H=4+—H
.

2009 2008
ZEZhE —EEN\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KiaE FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% -~ R &&iE 16 2,992 2,780
Investment property L&Y 18 1,060 1,250
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESHEE 21 60,419 134,364
64,471 138,394
Current assets o EE
Prepaid land lease expenses T THESRAY 17 - 289
Trade receivables JEUE 5 BRFK 23 - 1,099
Deposits, prepayments and other e BAREK
receivables H b fE U FRIE 23 1,190 544
Cash and cash equivalents Re KR EEER 24 2,968 7,055
4,158 8,987
Current liabilities mE AR
Accruals and other payables FE 5T R I8 K H b fE - 5k IE 5,880 5,588
Taxation payable FEI T IE 20,337 20,415
Amounts due to directors e EE A 25 5,378 10,583
31,595 36,586
Net current liabilities RBERSE (27,437) (27,599)
Total assets less current WESERTE
liabilities &R 37,034 110,795
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Amounts due to directors JEEE A 25 97,982 97,982
Deferred tax liabilities FEEHIBAE 26 167 167
Convertible notes GIE:di et 27 4,108 —
102,257 98,149
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (AR HERHE (65,223) 12,646
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B AR EE
Share capital % 3 28 9,852 7,603
Reserves 541 ] 29(a) (75,075) 5,043
TOTAL EQUITY Ea¥E (65,223) 12,646

These financial statements were approved and authorised for AHMBHERKLESTSRN _ZTZTNF+ A

issue by the board of directors on 24 July 2009. Z -0 B BhE R TIE o
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico Mr. Ip Wing Lun
PSR SEE RikiasE
Director Director
EBE e

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEM 2 Mt st A Rk 2 — &5 -

)5k # B PR 428 iR B IR A ®] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 35
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 & #R



BALANCE SHEET
BERRE

As at 31 March 2009
RZFZENF=ZA=+—H

2009 2008
—EThE —ETNEF
No(es HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets ERBDEE
Property, plant and equipment YN Y 16 833 1,007
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZRE 19 - 5,774
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESHEE 21 60,419 134,364
61,252 141,145
Current assets e BN
Deposits, prepayments and other R EARIEREA
receivables JE W GRIE 1,185 544
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE WL Ff B8 A R 5RIB 20 — 1,132
Cash and cash equivalents HeMHEeZEIER 24 2,536 6,941
3,721 8,617
Current liabilities mERE
Accruals and other payables JE 5T 3038 Ko HoAh FE < 5K 1E 4,218 5,559
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEST BT B A B IE 20 5,691 5,691
Amounts due to directors JEtEEFE 25 5,378 10,583
15,287 21,833
Net current liabilities RERAERE (11,566) (13,216
Non-current liabilities ERDAR
Convertible notes GIE &5 27 4,108 —
Amounts due to directors FEEEZNIE 25 97,982 97,982
102,090 97,982
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (AR) EE$HE (52,404) 29,947
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAR K fH
Share capital ;% 28 9,852 7,603
Reserves =10 | 29(b) (62,256) 22,344
TOTAL EQUITY wawE (52,404) 29,947
These financial statements were approved and authorised for A EKRERKEETeRN ST NE+ A

issue by the board of directors on 24 July 2009.

Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico

SRk E
Director

BZE

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReERED=R

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BE_FENF=H=1—HIFE
L

Group F5KHE
Share
Share Contribution Share option Accumulated
capital surplus premium reserve losses Total
k% HARR AR  BREGE RiEHR @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT A1 747 AT AT AT

(Note 28) ~ (Note 29(a)) ~ (Note 29(a))  (Note 29(a))

(Wites)  (Wit2sa)  (WiE29(a)  (Hi29(a)

At 1 April 2007 R-BBtEMA-A 3,840 (85) 32,50 - (36,060) (55)

Loss for the year and total recognised ~~ AEBBERAFECBARRLE

expenses for the year - - — — (152,133) (152,133)
QOpen offer of shares NREERD 1920 - 35,120 - - 37,040
Placing of shares RERD 1843 - 115,751 - — 117,594
Recognition of equity-settled share-based  BARELENRAZT 2 HE

payments — — — 10,200 — 10,200
Lapse of share options BANERE - - - (2,828) 2828 =
At 31 March 2008 R-2ENEZA=+-H 7603 (85) 183,121 7372 (185,365) 12,646

Loss for the year and total recognised ~~ AEBBERAFECEARRLE

expenses for the year - - — — (91,677) (91,677)
Issue of shares upon conversion of REETBRRERETRG

Convertible Notes (Note 27) (Bii27) 2,249 - 11,559 - - 13,808
Cancellation of share options ke - - - (5,875) 5,875 =
At 31 March 2009 R-EBAEZA=+-R 9,852 (85) 194680 1497 @) (65229)

o

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEM 2 M st AR Rk 2 — &b (n
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FeEHeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BE—FENF=A=1—HAULFE

2009 2008
—ETAE —ETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Cash flow from operating activities EEFZHZHRERKE
Loss before taxation B Al &S (91,755) (151,715)
Adjustments for: HEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREEITE
equipment 436 1,054
Release of prepaid land lease TEAS b 7H & 5 2 AR BR
expenses 289 431
Interest income BN (3) (93)
Interest expenses B H 538 —
Write-off of property, plant and M - BB KRR A
equipment - 115
Charge for provision for obsolete BT SR ERTR
inventories —_ 927
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A ESREEZ
financial assets RIEEE 73,945 110,923
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BERZEZ
equipment BB EE —_ 1,919
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE Z R 2R E R R 1,333 1,745
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment BEMEZ AFERBE
property (Yezk) 190 (213)
Fair value gain on convertible notes AR ER 2 A FEKE (872) —
Share-based payments VARR 9 2 1~ 2 5K I8 — 10,200
Operating cash flow before EERCEMEZEE
working capital changes BHeRE (15,899) (24,707)
Decrease in inventories FERD - 2,729
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEWE SRR (), (234) 2,769
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, B ANFEREM
prepayments and other receivables FEMCRRIE (35 0) R 4> (646) 1,291
Increase in accruals and other payables FERTFRIE K E A B S 5B
10 292 2,522
Net cash used in operations EERERERAZRSSH (16,487) (15,396)
Interest received B F 2 3 93
Net cash outflow from operating BERBZHETHRH
activities (16,484) (15,303)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FeEHeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BE - FEAF=A=1—ALFE

2009 2008
—ZTNEF —ZEENEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FAET
Investing activities BEEE
Payments to acquire property, plant and BB « BEREREZ
equipment FRIB (648) (1,274)
Acquisition of available-for-sale financial WERTHEESmEE
assets —_ (245,287)
Acquisition of investment property IR BB B 2 — (1,037)
Net cash outflow from investing BRESHZRSRHPHE
activities (648) (247,598)
Financing activities RMEEE
Issue of shares by open offer and BB NFEE REEET
placements (80 — 154,634
Issue of convertible notes, net of BITA AR IR
transaction cost (EHBRR ZHKA) 18,250 —
Advances (to)/from directors (BF)/ KEEZE 28R (5,205) 108,565
Net cash inflow from financing METHZHETANRH
activities 13,045 263,199
(Decrease)/increase in cash and ReRRe&SHEREE
cash equivalents (WD) Bms#E (4,087) 298
Cash and cash equivalents at FPZzHeRBA&EEER
beginning of year 7,055 6,757
Cash and cash equivalents at end F¥ZHERFASSEEH
of year 2,968 7,055
Analysis of the balances of cash BReRBE&SEEHRKR
and cash equivalents Lk
Cash and cash equivalents BE MBS EEEE 2,968 7,055

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt %5 38 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
e

ORGANISATION AND OPERATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability and has its
registered office at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands
and principal place of business at Unit 3008, 30/F., West
Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company engages in investment holding. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 19.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants that are relevant to its operations and effective
for the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies.

The adoption of HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 “Service concession
arrangements”, HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 “HKAS 19 — The
limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction” and HKAS 39 & HKFRS
7 Amendments “Reclassification of financial assets” has no
impact on the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt %5 38 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. R HMITREERTZHER)

STANDARDS (continued) (%)
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the RAMERREM AR ATES
following HKFRSs were in issue but not yet effective: B 75 R 45 2 BI B AR A B (M R AR 2K
Effective date
WA
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements (i)
BB GERIE15R (KIEET) Mgz 251
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing costs (i)
BB GFHERIE235 (KEET) fEE R AR
HKAS 32 & HKAS 1 Puttable financial instruments and obligations (i)
(Amendments) arising on liquidation
BB G EREI2RERER ARhemITARERRESE AT
2ETERIE 15 (BRI AS)
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly (i)
(Amendments) controlled entity or associate
BB GRS RES B AT - HRESIERE sk i E AR 2 B AR
SRR E275% (BRI AS)
HKFRS 8 Operating segments (i)
BB EERF 85 EEDHL
HK(IFRIC) — Int 15 Agreements for the construction of real estates (i)
B (HRMBHREREEZES) BREMBEZHE
— REE155%
HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Vesting conditions and cancellations (i)
BB MERAE2 (BFIAR) HEBIRMEK&TH
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Improving disclosures about financial (i)
instruments
BBV HRELRETR (BFTAR) FHESRIEZSCERE
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements (ii)
BB GERE275 (KIEET) bR RN BT
HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible hedged items (ii)
BERGFERIEI%R (BFIAN) aERE AR
HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time adoption of HKFRSs (ii)
BEMBHEERNET (BEF]) BRENB BB wELER
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations (ii)
BB MEREAEIN (KIER]) EBHEH
HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners (ii)
58 (BRMBREREZES) RNEAADKEREEE
— REE17HR
HK(IFRIC) — Int 13 Customer loyalty programmes (iii)
B (BRMBmEZRELZEY) FRAWE
— REE135
HK(IFRIC) — Int 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign (iv)
operation
B8 (BRMBHREREBEES) ¥R EBKREFHE
— REXE16%
HK (IFRIC) — Int 9 & Embedded derivatives (v)

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

58 (BARMBREREZEE) ABRAITEIR
— REER LB B GEL
395 (BRIA)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt %5 38 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
e

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

BRIMFET RAEERT 48
(%)

Effective date

EWAM™
HK(IFRIC) — Int 18 Transfers of assets from customers (vi)
B (BRMBHREREEER) KEXFPZEEES
— REE185%
2008 Improvements to HKFRSs HKAS 1, HKAS 16, HKAS 19, HKAS 20,
that may result in accounting HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29,
changes for presentation, HKAS 31, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS 39,
recognition or measurement HKAS 40 & HKAS 41 (i)
HKFRS 5 (ii)
AEHEMED BRNTEZ BEGERE  FEEHERE165
EHEH I —TTNFES BEGTERE195  BEGFTHERISE20
BT S 2R R 2 Bt 9% BB GETERIE235 A TEASE
2755 BB Gt AERISE285% - BB g R
F295%  HREGFERE315 BB FHE
AIE365% BB EHERIZE385 BB AT
HRIFEI95 B GHEAFI0RREES
FHERIZE 4157
BBV EIRE LR 557
2009 Improvements to HKFRSs HKAS 39 (80) (i)
that may result in accounting HKAS 38, HKFRS 2, HK(IFRIC) — Int 9,
changes for presentation, HK(IFRIC) — Int 16 (i)
recognition or measurement HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 36,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 5 & HKFRS 8 (vii)
AEHAEMED BRNTEZ EEFTHERIZE39 (80)5%
B EH L _ETNERE BB gERE38YE BB MEEAE
B R 5 AR R 2 B 255 BB (ARHMBREZREZES)
— ZBEN B (MBI BREREBES
g) — 2EE165
BB GTERSEE  FE S ERETR
BB GHERET7S BB AERIFEI6
9% BB EHERIFEIN  ARMBIMELE
BIZE 555 K& B B 15 3 22 R S 8557
Effective date: ERBE
(i) Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January (i) RZZETNF—A—B=HE
2009 Fit6 2 FZ 8
(i) Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 (i) RZZTZENFEA—B=HERE
R 2 2 BAfH
(i) Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008 (iiy RZZEZENFLH—H=HE
Fia 2 52 BAfH
(iv)  Annual periods beginning on or after 1 October (iv)y RZZETN\EF+H—-HBmHE
2008 Fth 2 & E B
(v)  Annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009 (v) RZZEZAFA=+THZE
& 5 R 2 F AR

(vi)
(vii)

Transfers of assets from customers received on or
after 1 July 2009

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these new or revised standards or
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt %5 38 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
.

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

Basis of preparation of financial
statements

These financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of investment property, available-for-
sale financial assets and derivative component of
convertible notes which are carried at fair value.

The financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis notwithstanding the fact
that the Group reported consolidated net current
liabilities of HK$27,437,000 (2008: net current
liabilities of HK$27,599,000) and consolidated net
liabilities of HK$65,223,000 (2008: net assets of
HK$12,646,000) as at 31 March 2009 and loss for
the year then ended of HK$91,677,000 (2008: loss
of HK$152,133,000).
the existence of material uncertainty which may

This condition may indicate

cast significant doubts on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore that it
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.

3.

FEEHBR

(a)

(b)

85I EEA

Itk 5 BA 75 SR TR SR P B B A
BREMBmELER BERR
SETRAREE R RED 2 B
BARERR -

M%%%ﬁiﬁﬁA%%ﬁé
RPBER AT ES LR
GLmﬁMDZu%&Eﬁ

.
7E °

MEHERCERESE

U B TR TV S R AVE
B ARBATESIEZR
A THEESMAER
AR 7 HTAE 5 2 Bk
fEH B -

R HRER DR BFBECEE
ERE  BREAEEN_TZT
NE=A=T—HHEERER
&) & (& 18 27,437,000 7T
(ZE2EZEN\F : nHAEFE
27,599,000 %7t ) k4R & B &
JF{H65,223,000/8T(ZEE
N\ : & E ¥ 112,646,000
/EE)&%&iEZEJﬁirEE
91,677,000 (= T =T
N\ & & $8152,133,0005
TL) o AR REBRFEE
ATHAERE @ Algeg A%
B2 BB B PN E K AR
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEK#®
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of financial (b) MBERCERELEE)
statements (Continued)
Notwithstanding the above, the directors of the BEEXFT - ARRIESD
Company have considered the following situations ZRATER - WENIRFHE
and are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare W B ERBIKE B 2 4R 5 B
the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a BRRTIBEE
going concern basis:
(i) As disclosed in Note 37(ii), the Company (i) 0 B sE37(i) BT #
raised working capital with net proceeds B ARAREER
of HK$58,000,000 in aggregate by way of BEBRERNR A
placing of its new shares of the Company I& 0 & 15 P 15 2B F
after the balance sheet date; and % & #£58,000,000 %8
TREEE® R
(ii) Included in the non-current liabilities of the (i) AEER=ZZTNF
Group as at 31 March 2009 is an amount =A=+—RHZ¥#R
due to a director who is also an ultimate PEEEREREES
shareholder of the Company with aggregate 95,068,000 7 It &
carrying amount of HK$95,068,000, which NEZ(INABEARQF R
is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed KRR ) RRIE - T
repayment term. The director and ultimate £H- 2EREETE
shareholder of the Company undertakes BR-EZERARA
not to demand for the Group to repay this AR RAEAFETE
amount due until the Company and the DRAEEEEIE
Group are financially capable to do so. This RIE BEEARAQ A
interest-free advance is not repayable within RN & B B BB EE 7
twelve months from the balance sheet date ERALL B ER
and is considered in substance as a quasi- HKBAREE B
equity loan to finance the Group’s long-term +-—@EABRANEE A
investments. WRAEE FBEN
AEBRBAKE 2%
REMEBEERK -
(c) Basis of consolidation (c) HHEEHE

These financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired and disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
entities are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment on
the asset transferred.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

Business combinations

Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill
in Note 3(f) below.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities in which the Group has
the power to govern the financial and operating
policies, so as to obtain benefits from their activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

3.

FESHBEER 2

(c)

(d)

(e)

meRE(E)
SEARREZABERS  #
BEAEEEREZRZH 2K
BEEMN DR EARE K28
Ui o BRIER SRt BIEE R
PRBBEELTRE  BRIK
SR BRI T AL -

WMELE - HBRR 2B R
RAFLAE  SHEAEHK
B SE BE MR B AR ER
&2

EHaH
REBKBERBARIIABE
BEDERIE o WEKATIIZE
HmBMMEHEE ELRK
P AR B EIA R AR E B RHBEL
RKB AR Z EHIEMETZ
BRAT Rz RHERR - SN
XA ERSIBUZEMKA
FHE - B QR Z A ERE
E - BERIARETIRER
Wois B Hl 2 A TFERER -

WERELEZBERE T XM
i 3(f) BRI E 2 &5t BURHE
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o °©
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

()

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries are included in
the Company’s balance sheet at cost less any
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the subsidiaries recognised at the date
of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an
asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to other asset of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business
combination, the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEE»
POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Property, plant and equipment (g9) ¥  BERSH

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present
working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after the asset has been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance
and overhaul costs, is charged to income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from
the use of the assets, the expenditure is capitalised
as an additional cost of the asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost
of assets over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at each balance sheet date, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

M~ RS MR TR 2 X
AR R T E R R EHR
BRI - EEKRABRE
BEEMEMNSZEEZRR
IR B RO K 3 B VE R E R 34
ZEERERA - BERAE
FREL 2B (IME - R
ERBHERSE)  @NEE
FHRERERME - REA
BRBNZEE RIS INESR
RAEREERS 2 BREER
& REERRBRRELN
EREEZRBINKA »

FETAME AT EA
FRABREMBRAE -
AEr A EAER - RREER
FEZEZREBESER T AR
A AAEB P ERENE
BEARR - TEFERMT

Buildings 2.5%, or over the terms BF 2.5% K HE
of the leasehold land, +3h 7 Flg&
if shorter FEI(LARR

mERE)

Leasehold improvements  20%, or over the terms HEMERE 20%=xFHE
of the lease if shorter 2 T 64 FE EA

(ABEE
REE)

Furniture and fixtures 20% RKMEREE  20%

Office equipment 20% WAZERE  20%

Motor vehicles 20% A 20%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

HEXRERME - BFE KRG
HEMELRBIIZEE
BHFREEERME L Z8aT
B WHRBEHER o
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

(i)

Investment property

Investment property, which was a property held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, was
measured initially at its cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
property was measured at fair value. Gains
or losses arising from changes in fair value of
investment property were included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and investments in subsidiaries to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEK#®

POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Impairment of assets (Continued) (i) HEREE)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash- WEE(BRECEELESEM)Z
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its A E AL RERE
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the B AEEGEELE
asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to i) 2 BEEE/BREE KD
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is R o BEBERANESRE
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Ao
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, WEBERBREEE BE
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash- (KBS EEEMN)2RAE
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 138 2= H AT Uy ] 58 2 485 ET
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased st - MEE IS MEREE TS
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying H R 38 13 4 3 A LA 2 (3R
amount that would have been determined had no REEESBN)BERBEEE
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or MEREE ZREE - REE
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an B2 BB B FER o
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

() Financial assets () eMEE

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on trade date where the purchase or sale of a
financial asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned,
are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction
costs, except for those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially
measured at fair value. These financial assets are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification:

(i) Loans and receivables

RIBS (B B GRR T XA
REANBET ST 2 B R
WXH)TT?‘EP&QFH 1
MEEBGNR S HBERAIR
PR - SREEBEEAT
ENRZERAFTE - EDER
BAFEAABRRRZEME
ERITZRAFEFR - %%
TRIEERERRESBARN
™

(i) R&EREBRKF

Trade receivables, loans and other BIEEES O B EMK
receivables that have fixed or determinable B I £ 75 )& BB ™ 35 3R
payments that are not quoted in an {?‘QZFELISZT%HE?A~
active market are classified as loans B R H fth fE R

and receivables. Loans and receivables ﬁ*ﬁﬁféf?’(&%%/ﬂ

are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses. Interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables
when the recognition of interest would be
immaterial.

B BEREERZE
FERERR R ERE
8 Ak AN H1 B AT DR E
BB E - FERKA
NERMEmER -
F B E M2 = BRI
FRIEBRIN ©

)5k # B PR 428 iR B IR A ®] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 & #R




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt %5 38 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
- 7

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments in securities which do not fall
into any of the other categories of financial
assets are classified as available-for-sale
financial assets and are stated at fair value.

Gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value are recognised directly in equity in
the revaluation reserves with the exception of
impairment losses, interest calculated using
the effective interest method and foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary
assets, which are recognised directly in
profit or loss. Where the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in the revaluation reserves is
included in profit or loss for the period.

Dividends on available-for-sale financial
assets are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.

The fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets denominated in a foreign currency
is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the balance
sheet date.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at each balance
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been impacted.

For equity securities, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective
evidence of impairment could include:

— significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or counterparty; or

— default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

— it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

— significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as
follows:
— For trade and other current
receivables and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost,
the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate, where
the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at
amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHB¥»®
POLICIES (Continued)
(j) Financial assets (Continued) (i) SMEEE)

(iii) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount
of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which has been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.

— For available-for-sale securities,
the cumulative loss that has been
recognised directly in equity
is removed from equity and is
recognised in profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that
is recognised in profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition
cost and current fair value, less any
impairment losses on that asset
previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit
or loss in respect of available-for-
sale equity securities are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised directly in equity.

(iii) EMEEHEE)
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade
receivables directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset and of allocating interest income over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset, or where appropriate,
a shorter period.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire; or it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

(k) Financial liabilities and equity instrument

issued by the Group

(i)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or equity in
accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Financial liabilities and equity instrument

issued by the Group (Continued)

(i)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company are
regarded as a hybrid instrument. Derivatives
embedded in the host debt contract is
treated as separated derivatives when
their economic risks and characteristics
are not closely related to those of the host
contract (the liability component) and the
host contract is not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. The conversion option
is classified as equity component only if the
option can be converted by exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the entity’s
own equity instruments. In the case that
the conversion option is not settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for fixed number of
equity instrument, the conversion component
is an embedded derivative.

At the date of issue, the conversion option
derivative (the “derivative component”) and
liability component are recognised at its fair
value.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Financial liabilities and equity instrument
issued by the Group (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Convertible notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible notes is
carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The derivative component
is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of the convertible notes are allocated to
the liability and derivative component in
proportion to the allocation of the proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the derivative
component is charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to
the liability component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible
notes using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on
an effective yield basis.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

(1)

(m)

Financial liabilities and equity instrument
issued by the Group (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations

are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and deposits held at call with banks, and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and
receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The prepaid land lease expenses are stated at cost
less accumulated releases to profit or loss and any
impairment loss, which are released to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
term.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as
an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs
so that the outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

(i)

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of
income or expenses that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Taxation (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date. The measurement of deferred
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the
balance sheet date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEK#
POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Taxation (Continued) (p) WMEE)

(ii) Deferred tax (Continued) (ii) EBERFE)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset REMBEERAE
when there is a legally enforceable right to RAEEERE S ABNE
set off current tax assets against current tax i 18 & = 1K 8H B B A
liabilities and when they relate to income HAER RRHEF
taxes levied by the same taxation authority — RSBz BT
and the Group intends to settle its current BHRABUARKNEE
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. BIZFEEELFH

BB IEEEE A E

B T AR 8 o

(q) Foreign currencies (a) 58

The individual financial statements of each AEEEEEB 2 ERMER
Group entity are presented in the currency of RAEBAEREEEBEZ
the primary economic environment in which the FERBRRE 2 EB( 8
entity operates (“functional currency”). For the B DE7 - gira W5k
purpose of the consolidated financial statements, EME  ASBRER I EE
the results and financial position of each Group R BB ARR AE TR - AT
entity are expressed in Hong Kong dollar which is BARAB 2N E M iR E Bt
the functional currency of the Company, and the BMRZ 2N EH -

presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the A 2R B E B8 2 B 15 R &
individual entities, transactions in currencies other W DAER IR LAINZ
than the entity’s functional currency (“foreign EB([INE NETZR SR
currencies”) are recorded at the rates of exchange R BB EREERDEE o R
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each BEGEEH @ INEBEMZ
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated EMIEBIERNEEH 2 EAE
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates RBFHRE o PINE A BRI
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary RAFESRZ FEBIEE R
items carried at fair value that are denominated EEATEzBZERERSE
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates FRE o

prevailing at the date when the fair value was

determined.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or PE H Z BRI E A B TR 1R s i
loss in the period in which they arise. R e
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(q)

(r)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are expressed in
Hong Kong dollar using exchange rates prevailing
at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated
significantly during the period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s
translation reserve. Such translation differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the foreign operation is disposed of.

Employees’ benefits

(i) Short term benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses and paid annual
leaves are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement are
deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present
value.

(ii) Pension obligations

Contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund scheme as required under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance are charged to profit or loss when
incurred. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contribution has been
made.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest. At each balance sheet
date, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
with other parties are measured at the fair value of
the goods or services received, except where the
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date
the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEK#

POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Related parties (uy RBEAT
Two parties are considered to be related if one i —75 B e B sl
party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control E—AFIRB—AELTH
the other party or exercise significant influence over RS SRR EATR B AR
the other party in making financial and operating 20 AEGEAERE - B8
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related H X HEREG S EIR LR E
if they are subject to common control or common FEH  AHEHITHEREHE
significant influence. Related parties may be o FHEEATAAEAED
individuals (being members of key management FEEERAS - FERERS
personnel, significant shareholders and/or their SFEZERRE )N EME
close family members) or other entities and include B UBEEXASEEHEES
entities which are under the significant influence (BEMAL)EAFEZE
of related parties of the Group where those parties 58 RUAEESEAEFRS
are individuals, and post-employment benefit plans HE R ERAHEES MR
which are for the benefit of employees of the Group &% 2 BB AT &l o
or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

(v) Revenue recognition (v) WSR2

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates
and other similar allowances and exclude value
added tax or other sales related taxes.

(i) Revenue from the sale of products is
recognised when the Group has delivered
products to the customer, the customer has
accepted the products and collectibility of
the related receivable is reasonably assured.

(i) Interest income is accrued on a time-
apportioned basis by reference to the
principal outstanding using the effective
interest method.

(iii) Rental income from operating lease is
recognised in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iv) Revenue for providing services is recognised
to be the extent of services rendered and
according to the terms of the agreement.

(w) Segment reporting
In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting, the Group has determined that business
segments are presented as the primary reporting
format and geographical segments are presented
as the secondary reporting format.

In respect of geographical segment reporting,
revenue is based on the country where the customer
is located, and total assets and capital expenditure
are where the assets are located.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The following are the critical judgements that the directors

have made in the process of applying the Group’s

accounting policies and that have the most significant

effect of the amounts recognised in the financial

statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial
assets

The Group followed HKAS 39 in determining when
an investment was impaired. This determination
required significant judgements. In making these
judgements, the Group evaluated, among other
factors, the duration and extent to which the fair
value of an investment mainly based on the quoted
price, where the investment is listed, was below its
cost.

Fair value estimation of the derivative
component of convertible notes

As explained in Note 27, the directors use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation
technique for the derivative component of
convertible notes not quoted in an active market.
Should the estimates including the early exercise
behaviour and the relevant parameters of the
valuation model be changed, there would be
material changes in the amount of the fair value
gain recognised in profit or loss in respect of the
derivative component of convertible notes.

Write down of inventories

In prior year, the Group performed regular review of
the carrying amounts of inventories with reference
to aged inventories analysis, expected future
consumption and management judgement. Based
on this review, write down of inventories would be
made when the carrying amount of the inventories
declined below the estimated net realisable value.
However, actual consumption may be different from
estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in this estimation.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

If the circumstances indicate that the carrying
values of property, plant and equipment may not
be recoverable, the assets may be considered
“‘impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
in accordance with HKAS 36
Under HKAS 36,

assets are tested for impairment whenever events

recognised
‘Impairment of assets”. these
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the net selling
price and the value in use. In determining the value
in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to level of
sales volume, selling price and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of sales
volume, selling price and amount of operating costs.
However, actual sales volume, selling price and
operating costs may be different from assumptions
which may require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the assets affected.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment
formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by
business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment

reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products they provide. Each of
the Group’s business segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products which are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of the other
business segments. The business segments of the Group
are businesses of apparel sourcing, apparel trading,
entertainment and investment holding.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the assets.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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EHMEB SRR - RERZ %K
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 9EEH»
(a) Business segments (a) E¥ESME
The following tables present revenue, results and TREJINAEEBE_ZTT)
certain asset, liability and expenditure information FRZZFEENF=ZA=+—
for the Group’s business segments for the years AItFEEB E K - ¥
ended 31 March 2009 and 2008. BRETEE AERXHE
B} o
Apparel sourcing Apparel trading Entertainment Investment holding Consolidated
EEEY ] R&%A 1 REnR 88
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
IBEAE CE3)\E ZEBARE CEI0\E ZEBAE SR IEEAE CERNF IEEAE CRTE
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT FET AT FET AT FET AT FET FAT
Segment revenve  H3ME
Sales to external HETIHA
customers %P 1,113 809 1,225 19,786 8,322 - - - 10,660 20,595
Segment results R 1,113 809 (309) 2,212 3,343 — - — 4,147 3,021
Other revenue and net  Eft iz REF)
gains FH - - - - 47 - 936 236 983 236
Unallocated other ~~ AARRHKER
revenue and net gains~ B3 3 168
986 404
Unallocated expenses  RAEXH (22,405) (44.017)
Impairmentlosson ~ AREESHEEY
avallable-for-sale HEER
financial assets (73,945) (110,923)  (73,945) (110,923)
Finance costs B (538) -
(74,483) (110,923)
Loss before taxation ~ BE#IERE (91,755)  (151.715)
Income tax HEH - - - (418) - - 8 - 8 (418)
Loss for the year ARAREREA
attributable to EERERER
equity holders of the
Company (91,677)  (152133)
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non-cash expenses

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 9EEH»
Business segments (Continued) (a) E¥BSEE)
Apparel trading Entertainment Investment holding Consolidated
PR g wELE 58
2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“ZT\F ZEEAE —TT/\F ZEBAE —TT)\F ZEBAE —TT)\F
HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000
AT FET TET FET T FET AT
Assets EE
Segment assets PEEE 1,099 - — 66,049 144220 66,049 145319
Unallocated assets KB EAE 2,580 2,062
Total assets HEME 68,629 147381
Liabilities af
Segment liabilties  HE&E = 1,420 — 111,695 114215 113,116 114215
Unallocated
liabilities AAEEE 20,737 20,520
Total liabilities R{E#{E 133,852 134735
Capital expenditure BRI 16 - = 648 1258 648 1274
Depreciaionand ~ FTERESH
amortisation 688 - — 615 740 615 1,428
Unallocated KARMER
depreciationand &3
amortisation 110 57
725 1,485
Impairment loss of %1% i
property, plantand ~ &&R#&Z
equipment HEFE 1813 - = - 106 - 1919
Other non-cash EfERE T
expenses 1,745 - — 73,263 110,710 74,596 112,455
Unallocated other ~ AAEEMIER S

- 10,200

74,596 122,655
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5.

(b) Geographical segments

(b)

PEEHE =)

WESH

Segment capital

Segment revenue expenditure
SRk SREXHAX

2009 2008 2009 2008

—EThEF —EENF —EEhE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FAETT FET TFRETT FAET

Hong Kong BB 8,322 — 648 1,274

Macau BT — 15,103 —_ —
United Kingdom ANEEE FE

(“U.K.) ([#E]) 2,338 5,492 — —

10,660 20,595 648 1,274

Segment assets
REAE

2009 2008

—ZETNEF ZZETENEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFHET FAET

Hong Kong B 7,135 10,555

Macau JEPY 1,076 1,363

U.K. ] 60,418 135,463

68,629 147,381
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6. TURNOVER 6.

Turnover, which is also revenue, represents the sales value

BER#E
BEATIERER) AT eSS

of goods supplied and services provided to customers and MR RG 2 SHEEBE - 2T ¢

is analysed as follows:

2009 2008
ZEThE e AN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Service income from entertainment REREEHEY
business ARAS WA 8,322 —
Apparel sourcing Pl & R 1,113 809
Apparel trading FRENE 5 1,225 19,786
10,660 20,595
7. OTHER REVENUE AND NET GAINS 7. Httlk@REFBE
2009 2008
ZETAE T NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET
Rental income GEEA I ON 64 23
Sundry income HETE A 237 75
Bank interest income |ITHEHA 3 93
Fair value gain on convertible notes AHRERR 2 A T ER S
(Note 27) (H15227) 872 —
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment KEMEZ N FEEE),/
property (Note 18) Wezs (Bat 18) (190) 213
986 404
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERE
2009 2008
—EZThE —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET FET
Imputed interest expense on convertible AR 2 FE SR A 2
notes (Note 27) S (HE27) 538 —
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. MRRAGIR
2009 2008
ZEZThE ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before taxation is arrived at after [ B A S 1R A 40 B
charging: AT &R :
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFERA 1,534 16,647
Cost of services rendered B R AR A A 4,979 —
Charge for impairment loss on FEREREX N
inventories (including in “cost of (Gt AEz=E
sales” in the income statement) [SHERA]) - 927
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERXETE
equipment (Note 16) (K17t 16) 436 1,054
Write-off of property, plant and YIZ ~ RIE K 1
equipment (Note 16) (Kt 16) - 115
Release of prepaid land lease expenses Bt + i 4 B iR 4
(Note 17) (K1 17) 289 431
Auditors’ remuneration: ZERNN & -
— current year provision — RNEFEE 750 600
— prior year underprovision — BEFEREETR 375 —
1,125 600
Share-based payments to consultants LARGD 24 T RER 2 /1B - 2,828
Minimum lease payments under MEENET 2
operating lease in respect of premises Y= HEES 1,281 2,063
Net foreign exchange losses SNEE B 1R 5 - 67
Employee benefit expenses (including EERN L (BFEESHE
directors’ remuneration (Note 11)): (Kia 11)) :
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 7,756 11,664
Pension fund contributions RIS R 140 286
Share-based payments LARRAD 24+ 2 3038 - 7,372
7,896 19,322
and crediting: Wit AATIEE ¢
Rental income from investment property BEWME 2B WA (KR ESE
(net of direct operating expenses) KBRS (57) (21)
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10. INCOME TAX 10. i8R
(a)  Taxation (credit)/charge in the consolidated income (a) HFEERRAZTEER)
statement represents: SFAXE
2009 2008
—EEAE —TI )5
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFET FET
Current tax — U.K. BERTHTE — [
— Provision for the year — REERE - 418
Profits tax — Hong Kong MEH — &S
— Overprovision for prior year — BEFEBEREE (78) —
(78) 418
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been HRAEBEREALERS
made as the Group had no assessable profits BEEERAMN(ZZEE)N
arising from Hong Kong during the year (2008: F:THET)  MAERBES
HK$Nil). Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is FISTIEL B - BINTB A
similarly charged at the appropriate current rates of Al Z BB R IR A f Rl A
taxation ruling in the relevant jurisdictions. RBFAZBBRITRERB
(b)  The taxation (credit)/charge for the year can be (b) AFEHEMESR) HFXHE
reconciled to the accounting loss as follows: SEtBEEENT
2009 2008
ZEZThE ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAT
Loss before taxation BRAL AT IE (91,755) (151,715)
Taxation calculated at respective UNEARMEERRAE 2
domestic statutory tax rates I8 (17,394) (26,205)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible HEHT X H 2
for taxation purposes WG E 14,984 19,244
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERGAZ
taxation purposes M E (229) (99)
Tax effect on unused tax losses not RERREATIEEEZ
recognised MG E 2,639 7,478
Overprovision for prior year W FE R (78) —
Taxation (credit)/charge for the year ~ AREEHE(HKE), FX (78) 418

75k % B PR 428 iR B IR A ®] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 & #R




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
- 7

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

(c)

During the year ended 31 March 2006, the Hong
Kong Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”) issued
certain estimated assessments for tax liabilities of
Sun Tai Hing Garment Making Company Limited
(“Sun Tai Hing”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, for an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$19,918,000 on the non-taxable
claims of non-Hong Kong sourced income for the
years of assessment of 1998/1999, 1999/2000,
2000/2001, 2001/2002, 2002/2003 and 2003/2004
(the “Estimated Assessments”). Sun Tai Hing
formally lodged objections with the IRD against
the Estimated Assessments and a final settlement
has not yet been reached. Full provision on the tax
liabilities of the Estimated Assessment was made
and included in taxation payable of the Group as at
the balance sheet date, and the directors of Sun Tai
Hing and the Company considered that the existing
provision is adequate.
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11.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the Listing

Rules and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2009

11. EFEH&

B15 LR R R E S A A HEDIE 161
BREEEMSMT -

BE_ZSAFE=A=1+—HILFE

Retirement
scheme Share-based
Salaries and contributions payments 2009
Fees allowances iBH DY:30) Total
e FaR M AHEER RRZHRE —ESAEEH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET TET FET
Executive directors H{TEE
Yeung Ka Sing, Carson B % - 600 - - 600
Hui Ho Luek, Vico AR - 441 10 - 451
Steven McManaman Steven McManaman - 800 - - 800
Fan Zhi Yi BER - 360 - - 360
Lee Yiu Tung FRR - 660 2 - 662
Ip Wing Lun, Allan Ekim - 441 12 - 453
Wong Po Ling, Pauline TE% - 441 12 - 453
- 3,743 36 - 3,779
Non-executive FRITER
directors
Christian Lali Karembeu Christian Lali
Karembeu - 800 - - 800
Chan Wai Keung Rz - 180 - - 180
- 980 - - 980
Independent non-  BIFHTEE
executive directors
Chang Kin Man 359 146 - - - 146
Yau Yan Ming, Raymond K828 146 - - - 146
Zhou Han Ping [EEF 130 - - - 130
Yip Man Ki B3 97 - - - 97
519 - - - 519
519 4,723 36 - 5,278
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EFH& »
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2008 BE_ZENF=A=1+—HILEE
Retirement
scheme Share-based
Salaries and contributions payments 2008
Fees allowances EZIN PABR (D Total
we 5o RER FTEIHER SRZRE T \FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors H{TEE
Yeung Ka Sing, Carson B 5 = 600 = = 600
Hui Ho Luek, Vico TR = 300 10 = 310
Steven McManaman Steven McManaman — 896 — 260 1,156
Fan Zhi Yi BER — 146 — — 146
Lee Yiu Tung FRER — 340 — 898 1,238
Ip Wing Lun, Allan ikt = 306 9 898 1,213
Wong Po Ling, Pauline  FE¥% — 324 10 898 1,232
— 2,912 29 2,954 5,895
Non-executive FRITER
directors
Christian Lali Karembeu Christian Lali
Karembeu — 781 — — 781
Chan Wai Keung PRiE = 55 = = 55
— 836 — — 836
Independent non-  HIUFHITES
executive directors
Chang Kin Man BER 120 = = = 120
Yau Yan Ming, Raymond i EFH 70 = = = 70
Zhou Han Ping [EEF 120 = = = 120
Yip Man Ki 78 103 = = = 103
413 — — — 413
413 3,748 29 2,954 7,144

There were no other emoluments payable to the directors

during the year (2008: HK$Nil). There was no arrangement

under which a director waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year (2008: HK$Nil).
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12.

13.

14.

15.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year are all
directors of the Company whose remuneration is set out in
Note 11 above.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company includes a loss of HK$90,385,000 (2008:
HK$135,401,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
March 2009 (2008: HK$Nil), nor has any dividend been
proposed since the balance sheet date.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the
Company. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic loss
per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
potential dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

12.

13.

14.

15.

hEmEwMER
ERNTERSHHNERARATE
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15. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 15.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are

BRBRG
SREXREEHBRL THT

s

based on: g
2009 2008
ZEBEAE —TI)\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#ET TET
Loss: B5i8 :

Loss attributable to the equity holders of STEESREAREIERAZ

the Company, used in the basic loss RARIRIER B ARG ER

per share calculations

(91,677) (152,133)

Add: Imputed interest on convertible notes* 7 - AIHAIE1E 2 fEF B *

(Note 27) (Bt 27) 538 =
Less: Fair value gain on the derivative B FIHAREROTHER S 2
component of convertible notes* ARG
(Note 27) (Hte27) (872) —
(92,011) (152,133)
Number of shares
;378 4E|
2009 2008
ZEEAFE —EENF
‘000 ‘000
T Fhig
Shares: Bifn -
Weighted average number of ordinary STEERENEE
shares for basic loss per share BT A 2 & AR hn g
calculation EHER 836,164 677,020
Effect of dilution on weighted average RS & 2 L imik
number of ordinary shares in respect of IR E s HE
share options* e —_ 7177
Effect of dilution on weighted average HIMAT MR BB K2
number of ordinary shares in respect of TR INET 92
conversion of convertible notes* g e 43,288 —
Weighted average number of ordinary TLESE R 2R 2 LB N
shares adjusted for the effect of dilution FEHE 879,452 684,197

Diluted loss per share amounts for the current and prior years
are the same as the respective basic loss per share amounts
because the basic loss per share amounts for the both years
are reduced when taking respective convertible notes and
share options (were applicable) into account, and therefore
the conversion of convertible notes and share options have an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts for the
current and prior years.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 16. Y% BERRE
EQUIPMENT
The Group
Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
Buildings improvements and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
#F HEWRRE BRRRE BOZHE AE #n
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
Cost: BE:
At 1 April 2007 RZEZHEMA-A 2,100 5,031 1,457 1,088 — 9,676
Additions AE — 804 7 393 — 1,274
Write off s - = (157) (153) - (310)
At 31 March 2008 RZZZ/\E=A
=1+-H 2,100 5,835 1,377 1,328 — 10,640
Additions HE - 56 1 39 552 648
At 31 March 2009 RZZTNEZN
=1+-H 2,100 5,891 1,378 1,367 552 11,288
Accumulated RAMERFE
depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 April 2007 RZEZHEMA-A 21 2,945 999 867 — 5,082
Charge for the year AEEHE 56 744 181 123 = 1,054
Impairment recognised ~ AFEERDRE
for the year — 1,503 300 116 — 1,919
Write off itz - = (114) (81) — (195)
At 31 March 2008 RZEZ/\E=A
=1+-H 327 5,192 1,316 1,025 — 7,860
Charge for the year AEENE 56 172 15 83 10 436
At 31 March 2009 RZZTNEZN
=1+-H 383 5,364 1,331 1,108 110 8,296

Net carrying value:  IRES(E :
At 31 March 2009 R_SEZNEZR

=t+-H 1717 527 47 259 442 2,992
At 31 March 2008 RZZFZ\E=A
== 1773 643 61 303 = 2,780
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2008, certain items of
property, plant and equipment were under-utilised. As a
result, the Group assessed the recoverable amounts of
these items. Based on such assessment, the carrying
value of these items of property, plant and equipment was
written down by approximately HK$1,919,000 during that
year. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has
been determined on the basis of their value in use with
reference to the probable cash flows from these items
of property, plant and equipment. No such write-off was

necessary during the year ended 31 March 2009.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s buildings with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$1,717,000 (2008:
HK$1,773,000) was charged by the plaintiff in respect of
a litigation, details of which are disclosed in Note 31(ii).
The Group’s buildings are located in Hong Kong and held

under a long term lease.

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED j5k # Bl F% #22 % /5 IR 2\ 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 &%k

16. ¥k - BER&MW @)

REBEE_ZZTN\F=A=+—HLHF
ER: ETYE BEREEBEBE
AR - At - AEBEF(EZEER
Z A E£5E - BB AT 25
ME - BERREEERZFEANZ
AR EERUR 49 1,919,00078 7T - B
BEZAKRECEDIEEFEREEE
K2ERREZEME - BE RRE
BEASZRAESRAETE - REBEZ
TEENFE=-A=+—HILEFERNBA
YEH B RA S -

RZZBEAF=A=+—8 ' &&
EEREELN1,717,0008 (=T Z
J\EE 1,773,000/ 7T ) ZEF 5 —
FAMRE AEE - BRAFBRH
FH3(I)HE - NREBZEBFARSE
& WARMBBNRES -
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16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

16. W% - BERERE @)

The Company . /N
Furniture
Leasehold and Office
improvements fixtures equipment Total
HEMEERE RURRE N st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEZ+FMA—H — 157 168 310
Additions NE 804 76 378 1,258
Write off HisH = (157) (153) (310)
At 31 March 2008 RZZT\F=
==F 804 76 378 1,258
Additions NE 56 1 39 96
At 31 March 2009 RZZETNF=HA
=71 860 77 417 1,354
Accumulated AitinE:
depreciation:
At 1 April 2007 W-EB+EMA—H — 114 81 195
Charge for the year AEEHE 161 15 75 251
Write off HisH — (114) (81) (195)
At 31 March 2008 RZZT\F=
=—=F 161 13 75 251
Charge for the year AEEHE 172 15 83 270
At 31 March 2009 RZZTNF=A
==F 333 30 158 521
Net carrying value: IRESE:
At 31 March 2009 R_ZSNE=R
=t+—H 527 47 259 833
At 31 March 2008 RZZT\F=
==F 643 61 303 1,007
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE EXPENSES 17. fAft1ih# &MAX

The Group
xEE
2009 2008
—EThEF ZZETENEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRETT FHT
Cost: 5%
At beginning and end of year REY R F 42 2,350 2,350
Accumulated balance released to BEERSZ RS :
profit or loss:
At beginning of year REF] 2,061 1,630
Release for the year (Note 9) RNEERERR (ML 9) 289 431
At end of year RERK 2,350 2,061
Carrying amount and current portion R {EKEIHIEE 5
At 31 March R=A=+—-H — 289

The Group’s prepaid land lease expenses are attributable
to land located in Hong Kong and held under a long term
lease.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s prepaid land lease
expenses were charged by the plaintiff in respect of a
litigation, details of which are disclosed in Note 31(ii).
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18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

18. REME

The Group
XEE

2009 2008

—ETAE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFHET FET

Fair value: NITE -

At beginning of year REFA] 1,250 —
Additions NE — 1,037
Fair value adjustment (Note 7) N ERE KT 7) (190) 213
At end of year RELR 1,060 1,250

The Group’s investment property was revalued as at 31
March 2008 at its open market value by reference to
recent market transactions in comparable properties on
an open market value basis calculated by reference to net
rental income allowing for reversionary income potential.
The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of
professional surveyors, Asset Appraisal Limited.

Subsequent to 31 March 2009, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of the investment properties at a total
consideration of HK$1,060,000, which was considered
by the directors of the Company to be the amount that
approximated the fair value of the investment property of
the Group as at 31 March 2009.

The property rental income earned by the Group from its
investment property which is leased out under an operating
lease, amounted to HK$64,000 (2008: HK$23,000). Direct
operating expenses arising on the investment property in
the year amounted to HK$6,600 (2008: HK$2,000).

The Group’s investment property is located in Hong Kong
and held under a medium term lease.

FEBZRENER_ZZENEF=R
=+ HEZRHATE  K2ZUAH
MEEE(ZZHE KA EE mE
EHEWAFBEZEBAE)ZA T
LBMEAEMmSER 5 EM © H{EH
BYEXNEMEEFEBRRAERA

Al ZE

el

o

BN
a1

RZZTNE=ZA=+—H%  AE
BEBE=FUEEHZ - U
EREWE - BR(EA 1,060,000
T ARREERBZEBERNER
ZIREMER_TENF=A=+—
BZAFEEE °

AEEAHEULEREHBEZERE
) 2 BRER 2 ) ¥ 78 & A 64,0005
TL(ZZTZ N\ F 23,0008 7T) ° F
N REVEEEZEELERY
76,6008 (=T F)\F : 2,00058
TT) °

REBZREMEMNEE - WIAS
MRS -
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19.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

19.

BB AR ZKE

The Company

. 3/
2009 2008
ZETAE —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETMRG - K AE 22,316 22,316
Less: Impairment losses B ORE R (22,316) (16,542)
—_ 5,774

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at

31 March 2009 are as follows:

Name of company

Ak

Dollar Concept International
Ltd.

Fanlink Far East Ltd.
Sun Ace Group Ltd.

Leader Ahead Investments
Ltd.

East Step Trading Ltd.
REBHERAH

Gala Consultants Group
Limited

Sun Tai Hing Garment
Making Company
Limited

MAREKERAT

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED j5k # Bl F% #22 % /5 IR 2\ 7]
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Country of

incorporation
and operation Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

HEMEILR
#EER

BVI
RERLHS

BVI
RERLHS
BVI
RERLHS
BVI
RERLHS

Hong Kong
i

mHH

BVI
RERLHS

Hong Kong
B

ERITRBEREER

US$1 Ordinary
LER1ET

US$1 Ordinary
LER1ET
US$1 Ordinary
LER1ET
US$1 Ordinary
LER1ET

HK$1 Ordinary
LER1BT

US$1 Ordinary
LER1ET

HK$115,000 Ordinary
LBk 115,000 87

RARBRZZBZNF=A=+—HZ
EBHBAARBENT :
Proportion of ownership interest
RERERESL
Group’s Held Held
effective by the by the
interest Company subsidiaries
F5EZ  BFLF HIBAF Principal activity
KRN 8 e TERE
100% 100% — Apparel sourcing and trading
(overseas based)
REvRiERE S (SE)
100% 100% — Investment holding
RERR
100% 100% — Investment holding
RERR
100% 100% — Provision of entertainment
services
RAERE RS
100% — 100% Apparel trading (Hong Kong
based)
R=B5(EEH)
100% — 100% Apparel sourcing and trading
(overseas based)
RERERES (EE)
100% — 100% Investment holding
RERR
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19.

20.

21.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

An impairment loss on investment costs of approximately
HK$22,316,000 (2008: HK$16,542,000) was recognised
as at 31 March 2009 because the related recoverable
amounts of the investment costs with reference to the net
assets values of the respective subsidiaries were estimated
to be less than their carrying amounts. Accordingly, the
carrying amounts of the related investment costs are
reduced to their recoverable amounts.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO
SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS

19. RIfB AT Z&’RE @

# & B AR 5 18 40 22,316,000 78
TT(ZZTZJ\F 1 16,542,000 Tt )
R-ZBEZNF=ZA=+—BHER R
HARSREMBARIEEFE LA
% &R AN 2 AT B 5 BB ET DR ELBR
HE - At - BEKREKRAZREE
WA EEAKESEE -

ERINTNEERRERTERFEE
BABRNAEBEEFETZANZ
ARBMBARF - EFRRREHEM
MBARZHIEEEBRIEBRRIT
£ o

20. B FEAHELERE

JEHe, FE AT Y B X B FRIE A A AR
RENBRERERE -

21. THHESMEE

The Group

and Company

EREARFAT
2009 2008
—ETNEF ZETENEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Equity securities listed in U.K. EBEHEBRFEES

At cost of acquisition 17 U BE R AR 245,287 245,287
Less: Impairment losses JB - ORE R (184,868) (110,923)
At fair value BATE 60,419 134,364
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

ASSETS (Continued)

The Company acquired 24,375,975 ordinary shares of 10
pence each or approximately 29.9% of the issued capital
of Birmingham City Plc. (“BCP”) at a cash consideration of
£14,950,029 (equivalent to approximately HK$237,225,000
at the acquisition date) from independent vendors during
the year ended 31 March 2008. BCP was incorporated
in the U.K. with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange (the "AIM”). BCP’s principal place of business
is in the U.K. and is principally engaged in investment
holding. BCP has one subsidiary, Birmingham City Football
Club Plc. registered in the U.K. and it is principally
engaged in operation of a football league club in the
U.K. As the Company failed to appoint any representative
to the board of directors of BCP and had no power to
exercise any significant influence or joint control over
the financial and operating policy decisions of BCP after
the acquisition of equity interest in BCP, the directors of
the Company consider that the Company’s investment in
BCP is not an investment in an associate but should be
designated as available-for-sale equity securities. Taking
into account the transaction costs of HK$8,062,000 that
are directly attributable to the Company’s acquisition of
the equity interest in BCP, the initial cost of the Company’s
investment in BCP as at the acquisition date amounted to
approximately HK$245,287,000.
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1. AIHESMEE @

REEZE_ZTTENF=A=+—H
IEFE ARRMBLEFE
24,375,975 R ER10E L 2 E AR
gk Birmingham City Plc. ([BCPJ)
EBEITRAL29% BERER
14,950,029 & &2 (R U 8 B B HE R
#7237,225,0007% T ) ° BCP A &
FM S ABRARF - RGO MREK
BHERGAREKREMS ([ ZRERE
M5 1) £ - BCPZ EZE & ¥4 2h
URKRE  EENEREERER -
BCP# & — B 7 2= B 5t it 2 fff /&8 &
Al Birmingham City Football Club
Plc. T2RFRRELE —HREIK
22EBE - BRARFRIKEBCP
B REEZ A EMAREKIMABCP
LEEERIWEENTEEMNERY
Z o HFEHIBCP 2 B 75 I & 1B IR
RRE - WMARREFTRALRRARN
BCP 2 EWIEREE AR ZZE
MEREHE TE Al it E R ARTE 5 &5
RAARWEBCPIREREREZ
R 5 K7 8,062,000/8 0% © ANA A
RULHE B AR BCP 218 & Z ¥ 20 BX
IN#) A 245,287,000 & TT ©
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21.

22.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

For the purpose of assessing the impairment of the
Company’s investment in BCP, market price of BCP’s
shares listed on the AIM is taken into account. The
directors of the Company considered that there is a
significant decline in the fair value of the securities, i.e.
BCP’s market share price quoted on the AIM below its
cost, which is an evidence of impairment. Therefore, an
impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets of
HK$73,945,000 (2008: HK$110,923,000) was directly
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2009 based on the BCP’s market share price quoted on
the AIM at the spot transaction rate as at 31 March 2009.
Such impairment losses recognised in profit or loss are not
reversed through profit or loss, any subsequent increase in
the fair value of such available-for-sale financial assets is
recognised directly in equity. The market value of each as
at the date of approval of these financial statements was
approximately 30.55 pence (2008: 23.15 pence) based on
the market share price of BCP quoted on the AIM.

AHHESREE @

HTHEAATRBCPZIRE Z R E
= Eﬂ'&BCPHx@EA%ﬁ&:\
M5 ZT{E - AR EERAZEH
H 2 ANFEBIBCPRHN BERE
MHZMHRE) RIBREERNEK
AN BB ERR o Bt - AT
& ¢ @b & E 2 R (8 8518 73,945,000
BIL(ZZ T\ F 1 110,923,000
TIEBEEERBE-_TTNLEF=A
=ST—HIEFEZBRZER Z2E
TRIEBCPRMHR =ZZEZNF=A
:‘F—Eﬁ“w;@&é{miﬁzm%ﬂifﬁ
BRAERGEFTE - NE=ERZE
BEREBETSEBIESAER - 25
AN ESmMEE 2 A TEZ EMEE
f& 182 N B B2 DA M 2 FE AR T;zBCPHx
MR BEREMIS 2 TIGRETE
SR BCPR M R EZ S M B RE
EHMEHNA5FEL(ZZT
N 1 23150 L) o

INVENTORIES 8
The Group
XEKE
2009 2008
ZEZhE —ET)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
Finished goods LUK mh — 4,251
Less: Provision for on obsolete inventories  J& - B 7 & & E& — (4,251)

The Group carried out regular reviews on the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to aged inventories
analysis, expected future consumption and management
judgement. During the year ended 31 March 2008, the
carrying value of certain inventories were determined to
decline below its estimated net realisable value and was
written down by approximately HK$4,251,000.

KEIQ% SO BEIRKOBE
EEE S EFEREEET
Eﬁﬁ*ﬁaﬁ°%ﬁi:§§)\iiﬂ
=t HLFEAR  ETFEEZRH
ERREERNE G5 7T 2 35 E MO
#494,251,0008 T °
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 23. BB HIER - &E W

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER fTRIER A M EWRIE
RECEIVABLES
The Group
xEEH
2009 2008
—EEhE —ET)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFETT FET
Trade receivables B E Z R 4,687 4,453
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B REEBHE (4,687) (3,354)
—_ 1,099
Deposits, prepayments and other e TERFIE R E e Uk
receivables IE 1,190 544
1,190 1,643
() The average credit period to the Group's trade (i) AEBEERE ZERZ FH
receivables is 60 days (2008: 60 days). FEEHAOR(ZZEENF :
60K) °
(i)  The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts (i) FARKRRE(BRFEHERRE
during the years, including both specific and FEEE D) 2 EBT -
collective loss components, are as follows:
The Group
XEEH
2009 2008
—EEAE —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
At beginning of year =) 3,354 1,609
Impairment loss on trade receivables  fEWE ZRZUHERE 1,333 1,745
At end of year FR 4,687 3,354
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 23. BB HIER - &E W

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER fERIE R B RN 3R IE ()

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(i) (Continued) (if) (fé)
At 31 March 2009, the Group’s trade receivables of RZZZENF=A=+—H -
approximately HK$4,687,000 (2008: HK$3,354,000) N & B #4,687,0007%8 ;t(—
were individually determined to be impaired. T T )\ : 3,354,000/ 7T )
The individually impaired receivables related ZRWE SERE ERRETE
to customers that were in financial difficulties RERE - @R 2 RE 2 B
and management assessed that none of the REHELBENBEREXFPE
related receivables is expected to be recovered. B EEEI GHTEHABEEK
Consequently, full allowance for doubtful debts FRIEAEYE - Bt BER
of HK$4,687,000 (2008: HK$3,354,000) was 2R AR 18 4,687,000 7T
recognised. The Group does not hold any collateral (ZZZT N\ £ : 3,354,000/
over these balances. T) o NEE W ERZ LT

R B EE R o

(iiy  The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables, (iii) $ETJ%§§E%EEHH* 5 mEwE

based on invoice date, is as follows: BRRZ BRI T :

The Group
xEME

2009 2008
ZEENF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHETT FET
Within 30 days 30 KA — 335
31 to 60 days 31 RXE60XK — 1,730
Over 60 days 60 AL 4,687 2,388
4,687 4,453
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24.

25.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the balance sheets and consolidated
cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include
cash and bank balances.

Most of the Company’s and the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents are denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair values.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS —
THE GROUP AND COMPANY

The amounts due to directors, included in current liabilities,
are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to directors who are ultimate
shareholders of the Company, included in non-current
liabilities, are unsecured and interest-free advances, out
of which (i) an amount of HK$95,068,000 has no fixed
repayment term, and the director and ultimate shareholder
of the Company has undertaken not to demand for the
Group to repay this amount due until the Company and
the Group are financially capable to do so. This interest-
free advance is not repayable within twelve months from
the balance sheet date and is considered in substance
as a quasi-equity loan to finance the Group’s long-term
investments; and (ii) an amount of HK$2,914,000 due to
another director and ultimate shareholder of the Company
is not repayable within twelve months after the balance
sheet date.
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24.

25.

RekL&SERE
RAERBRRBARERRERMD
T RERRSEEAEBBERER
RITHH -

REARRBRAEB RS RER S
FEBEB BT REN -

RITBESREARITERNERNZS
FRERDMAE - EHREHRFHREAER
RzEFERHAR - B—RE=BAT
E BIEAEEZANKHRSFRM
B &R E BT AR BRELA
B o SRITAERFRUNMEE R IF R I &
MEE R LR 2 R1T - HERAEFH
BRA ZREEEEQFERE -

BHEERE — x5%H
-2 3/
ERNEFFEFARDER -
1 28 RIREREE -

RER

ERES (AR R HERE ) KIE
ATAERBEE  AEERLRESR
3K EH (i) 3 1E 95,068,000 7% It 17
EEEESS  AAREFHRHLR
REAEIZERAEEEE L ERS
HKIE - BEAR A RASE A EEE
EFRBIE - R BBRRBERNGEHE
B -—EARER  BEHERAE
g FERNASERGRE 2 R
MEER: R(i)ENFS—BAQA]
EERRARREZFIE 2,914,000
THARGEERRT T Z@ARE

= o
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26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. EEREHR
The movements for the year in the deferred tax liabilities AREERELEFHEAEZEZHWMT :
are as follows:

The Group
xEE
2009 2008
—BBAE —TE )4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET FAET
At beginning and end of year FUREFL 167 167
The deferred tax liabilities mainly represent accelerated REFIBEBEEZHEMNRITERE -
depreciation allowances.
At 31 March 2009, the Group has unused tax losses of RZZEZNF=ZA=+—8 ' ~&H
approximately HK$65,359,000 (2008: HK$49,532,000) B K &) F 6 15 /85 18 49 65,359,000 78
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax (= ZZ J\F : 49,532,000/ 7T )
asset has been recognised in respect of such tax losses RIS R @ Al o B OETERIR
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such P A HOR - HR B T R IR AR I B
losses may be carried forward indefinitely. E - BREBEER LSS -
There was no other material unprovided deferred tax in RAFERREER - BImAEMERXR
respect of the year and as at the balance sheet date (2008: RBEEELEHRE(ZZZN\EF : B8
HK$NIil). TT) °
27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 27. WEKRRIE

The Group and the Company FEERFLT
On 7 May 2008, the Company entered into a subscription RZZEZENFRAELH " AQdA
agreement with Pacific Capital Investment Management B Pacific Capital Investment
Limited (“Pacific Capital”) pursuant to which Pacific Capital Management Limited ([Pacific
has agreed to subscribe for the convertible notes (the Capital]) &7 37 R B % &% - & Ut -
“Convertible Notes”) for an aggregate principal amount of Pacific Capital B[R EREA R A
up to HK$200,000,000 to be issued by the Company. BT S HEFE &% /200,000,000

T2 AHRRER (AT RE])
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

The Convertible Notes are convertible into conversion
shares at the option of the noteholders at any time during
the conversion period into conversion shares at the
conversion price. The price at which conversion shares will
be issued shall be either:

(i) 125% of the average of the closing day price of the
Company for the 30 business days immediately
prior to:

— in respect of tranche 1 of the Convertible
Notes, the date of the subscription
agreement; and

— in respect of the subsequent tranches of the
Convertible Notes, the respective closing
dates (the “Fixed Conversion Price”), subject
to adjustment in accordance with the terms
and conditions; or

(i) 90% of the average of the closing day price on
any 5 consecutive business days (as selected by
the relevant noteholder) during the 30 business
days immediately preceding the relevant
conversion date as selected at the discretion of the
relevant noteholder at the time of exercising the
conversion right in respect of the relevant tranche
of the Convertible Notes provided always that the
conversion price shall not in any event be less
than HK$0.05 per conversion share (the “Floating
Conversion Price”).

The Company may redeem those Convertible Notes
presented by the noteholder for conversion redemption
amount if on presentation of such convertible notes, the
Fixed Conversion Price or the Floating Conversion Price
(as the case may be) is less than or equal to 70% of
the closing day price for the 30 consecutive business
days prior to the relevant closing date in respect such
Convertible Note.
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7. AR A

FRERFLT(E)

AR AR AR AT A S R (] B ) 4%
EEFAEAZER  UABRERBRE
AR o RIBPRMD T T 2B
=3

(i) AT HHATS0EZEEA
Z AW BEKZ 125%

— A MR RIEZE —
HmsE - REWHZEAR
H R

— HAURRRERZHR
wAm=s" @A
i B #8E E X #®
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

27. WIRERRIE 2

The maturity date of the Convertible Notes was 36 months
from the date of issue. The Convertible Notes will not bear
any interest. Unless previously redeemed, purchased,
converted or cancelled in the circumstances set out in
the terms and conditions, the Company will redeem the
outstanding convertible notes on the maturity date at 100%
of the principal amount thereof.

On 4 June 2008, the Company and Pacific Capital entered
into a supplementary agreement to supplement the
subscription agreement including, among other things,
the addition of a conversion restriction in the terms and
conditions so that no conversion of the Convertible Notes
can be made at any time when the Company cannot
maintain 25% public float as a result of such conversion.

On 28 July 2008 and 7 August 2008, the Convertible Notes
with aggregate principal amounts of HK$20,000,000 were
issued.

Based on the determination of the conversion price with
reference to the Fixed Conversion Price and the Floating
Conversion Price as mentioned above, the exercise of
conversion option would not result in settlement by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number
of shares of the Company. The embedded derivative of
conversion option is therefore accounted for as a financial
liability. The proceeds from the issue of the Convertible
Notes of HK$20,000,000 have been split into liability
and derivative components. On issue of the Convertible
Notes, the fair value of the derivative component is
determined using an option pricing model and this amount
is carried as a derivative component of the liability until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder
of the proceeds is allocated to the liability component and
is carried as a liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The derivative
component is measured at fair value on the issue date
and any subsequent changes in fair value of the derivative
component as at the balance sheet date are recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

AR 2 B B R 31T A HAEET
361 A o A AR IE K T EHE A
B o BRIESERAEMGR RGP Z 15
ATER - BE - sk - B
ARRREREEBRRAR ST Z 100%
FB ORI AT R SR o

RZZEZENFSAMEAB - KAAHE
Pacific Capital 5] M7t hs% + AT
REEWE - EPEEE R REYS
RONA SRR & - BE R AR R E
BRA BB EEMREEFT2B% AR
BiRE 2 AR - NEETERNE
B 5 A% o

RZEENFLAZ+NAHEZ

20,000,000 T Z Al A iR =45 B 45
BT o

BIE2E LilEE LR ERFEHE
BEHREZETE  (TELBERT
CERBRRIARETSEZRE A
ETHEEZARBRGBEE- - i
BZASMTETAERETTARTR
BfE. HOURBREERZMEHRE
20,000,000 TE D BB ERITE
o o REBEITAIRREIRE - $TESS
AZATFEXAHREEEEAEE
it eEIZABEZITEDLIIE B
ER B ERREUE A LE - FTE R
BEHREIREBEDRD - WIREHK
REEDBEIE  BERLRSE
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The movements of the liability component and derivative

27. WIRERRIE (2

BERTABRERR B RITER

component of the issued Convertible Notes are as follows: DZEEWT

Liability Derivative

component of component of

Convertible Convertible

Notes Notes
AREREZ ARERE Total
AR LSS #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
At the issuance date RE(TEH 14,056 5,944 20,000
Direct transaction costs BERHHRA (1,750) — (1,750)
Conversion into ordinary shares ABETRER (9,045) (4,763) (13,808)
Imputed interest (Note 8) BN E (17 8) 538 = 538
Fair value gain (Note 7) AFEWS (A7) = (872) (872)
At 31 March 2009 RZBZNF=A=+—H 3,799 309 4,108

Interest on the Convertible Notes is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest
rate of 9.1968% per annum.

The fair value of the derivative component of the
Convertible Notes is determined taking into account
the valuation performed by Asset Appraisal Ltd., an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, using
the Monte Carlo Simulation Model with the major inputs as
at issue dates and 31 March 2009 as follows:

Share price

Bt E1%

Exercise price

1B

Volatility
AL

Risk free rate
f= [ b A1) =X

s
H o
A

Issue dates
B{THA

HK$0.14 to HK$0.28
0.14%TZ0.28 87T

HK$0.311 to HK$0.355
0.311B7L £ 0.355/8 7T

119.4% to 127.38%
119.4% = 127.38%

2.712% to 2.926%
2.712% £ 2.926%

m GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 534 Bl B i 5 FR A 7
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AR R IR 2 FI B 535 8 e A B R
FH % 9.1968% £R A & B F BOE &

ARBERLTEBH 2 AFEE
HRBT B A AR B A ETE
BRARA T2 AR R
S RREERE TIRTAMR
—TT

EEEE :

NF=ZA=t—HZEZEBHA

31 March 2009
—EZhhFE=A=+—H

HK$0.068
0.068787T

HK$0.311
0.31178 7T

144.73%
144.73%

0.907%
0.907%
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 27. WBEERE 2
During the year, there was a decrease in the share price FR - AREIRMDERRD - Bt -
of the Company, and accordingly, the fair value of the AR BB ITER D 2 R FERHD
derivative component of the Convertible Notes decreased, BYAFEKEZE872,0008 T ©

resulting in a fair value gain of HK$872,000.

On 30 April 2009, all the Convertible Notes outstanding RZZBZNFHEA=1TRH - AR
as at the balance sheet date were fully converted into HFHRMARBZARKREREEEH
shares of the Company. As detailed in the Company’s HMBARRNBIRMD o HBARQ AR
announcement dated 7 June 2009, the Company and ZENFANAECBFEZRMATEE
Pacific Capital terminated the subscription agreement and i+ ANA R # Pacific Capital 42 1E7]
the supplementary agreement of Convertible Notes. HIR IR 2 RE W R AT B
28. SHARE CAPITAL ;L% N
2009 2008
ZZZhE “EEN\E
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
BRin&E &f K& R kil
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: JAFE
Ordinary shares of BEAE0.01 BT
HK$0.01 each LER 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE -
At beginning of year E2) 760,320,000 7,603 384,000,000 3,840
Issue of shares by way of; BB N HARTRE -
Open offer (i) NREE() - - 192,000,000 1,920
Placements (ii) B (i) - - 184,320,000 1,843
Issue of shares upon FATRREBRET
conversion of Convertible Rt (i)
Notes (i) 224,831,000 2,249 = =
At end of year FR 985,151,000 9,852 760,320,000 7,603

)5k # B PR 428 iR B IR A ®] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company
raised approximately HK$37,040,000, after expenses, by
issuing 192,000,000 offer shares at a subscription price
of HK$0.20 per offer share by way of open offer, on the
basis of one offer share per every two shares held, to
provide additional working capital of the Group. The open
offer was approved at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 23 April 2007 and was completed on 7
June 2007, resulting in additional amount of HK$1,920,000
and HK$35,120,000 standing in the share capital and
share premium account respectively. All shares issued by
the Company rank pari passu with the then existing shares
in all respects. Further details are set out in the Company’s
prospectus dated 18 May 2007.

From 11 July 2007 to 13 November 2007, the Company
raised approximately HK$117,594,000, after expenses, by
issuing 184,320,000 shares by placements at subscription
prices ranging from HK$0.57 to HK$0.80 each to provide
additional working capital of the Group, resulting in
additional amount of approximately HK$1,843,000 and
HK$115,751,000 standing in the share capital and share
premium account respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Convertible
Notes in the carrying amount of HK$13,808,000 were
converted into 224,831,000 shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company, resulting in additional amount of approximately
HK$2,249,000 and HK$11,559,000 standing in the share
capital and share premium account respectively.

All the above shares issued by the Company rank pari

passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED j5k #% B B2 22 % /5 BR 22 &
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 & #R

28. K&k 2

Hiat -

)

(iif)

REBEE-_TENF=A=+—H
WEFEEARN AABBEBRESRES
AR AR D I 2 — IR ER (D 2 &
£ UARBEZANIRTRE
& B 15 0.2075 T 2 R B E R %
77192,000,000 i% 3 & & 15+ &
& #)37,040,0007% 7T(5t R A X
%) UAREBREHEINEEER
% ARBEERAABRNR=T
TLENA-+=ABRITZHE
BRIRKE ERIE YR _TF
tERNACBEREN  EBRAK
A& 15 35 (8 5 Bl 58 SNk B 1,920,000
7570 ) 35,120,000 4 7T © AN A A
BITZHEAERNMEE B ZHAR
PREFTHEZEREEZ - &
—FSHBERARAR-_ZETt
FRAATN\BRIEZBEZE -

RZETt+tHFt+tA+—BEZ
ZTt+FE+—A+=B"'ARQ
AIEBABRNTEROS7TETLE
0808 T2 REEURE AR
%% 17184,320,000 K & 15 - & &
#9117,594,000% 7T(5 & B X
%) UWARNEERMHEEINEE
e BHBRARRMDEERSD
71| 58 5 3 BR 491,843,000 7% 7T &
115,751,000 7T ©

RBE-TZNF=A=+—H
IEFER - BREE A 13,808,000
BLTZARRERELRBA
224,831,000 IR A A 7] & IR E &
0.01BTZKG - BHEER
KRB0 R EZFEINETED RIL
2,249,000 % JT K& 11,559,000 %
Thle

ERAEARREITZRODESTE
HERZBBERMZFE RS -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 | B 6

31 March 2009
—FEAF=F=1—H
.

29. RESERVES

The nature and purpose of each reserve are set out below:

(a)

Reserves of the Group

()

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the
difference between the nominal value of
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation on 22
October 2002, over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued in exchange
therefor.

Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
contributed surplus account is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company under
certain circumstances.

Share premium
The application of the share premium
account is governed by applicable

regulations of the Cayman Islands.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair
value at respective grant dates in respect
of the outstanding share options of the
Company.

29. %

BERFRIMEERBOFHINIDT

(a)

AREZEE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

WA ZER
BABBERE_Z
T-F+RA=-+=H

SEEHEMRIKEZ I
NP4 N Y
BEARB /R Z
F R Ap 1T 2 IR

E{EME 2 Z%E

RBHSHESRAAE
(ZZEZ—FFRE
FTHR) - AARIAIES
F1ER T ABA A &
BRAZRBERERRE
fER DK °

Bz E
BpmERZERS
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fs
= o
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29. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Reserves of the Company

29. f#f\(#)

(b) FAFZEM

The Company
YN
Contribution Share Share option Accumulated
surplus premium reserve losses Total
081 R&E TR G RER 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ ' 000
BT FET AT AT AT
(Note) (Note29(a)) (Note 29(a))
(i) (Hiz29) (Hizt292)
At 1 April 2007 R-ZTLE
mA—H 22,116 32,050 - (57,692) (3.326)
Share premium arising on ~ AEEERHEEL

open offer of shares BRinaE = 35,120 = = 35,120
Share premium arisingon ~ EFERRESEZ

placement of shares RipaE = 115,751 = = 115,751
Recognition of equity-settled  BRRHELERAT

share-based payments [ HE - - 10,200 10,200
Lapse of share options BRELN = = (2,828) 2,828 —
Loss for the year rEEEE = = = (135,401) (135,401)
At 31 March 2008 RZZENE=A

=t+-H 22,116 183,121 7372 (190,265) 22,344
Issue of shares upon HRTHREERET

conversion of Convertible  Bk3(#7:227)

Notes (Note 27) — 11,559 — — 11,559
Cancellation of share options  FH&ERE - - (5,875) 5875 =
Loss for the year rEERE - - - (96,159) (96,159)
At 31 March 2009 NZBENEZR

=+-H 22,116 194,680 1,497 (280,549) (62,256)
Note: HsE
Contributed surplus of the Company ELFZHMARE

The contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of
the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company under
certain circumstances.

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED j5k # B FR 422 % /5 IR 2 7]
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30.

31.

OPERATING LEASE 30. EEHVRHE
ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessee FREESEBA
The Group did not have any outstanding commitment RZEENEFR=ZZFZNF=A
under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 March =+—H @ AEBWERET A EEH
2008 and 2009. AL 2 ERRBITHRYE -
The Group as lessor EEEESHBAA
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s total future minimum REEH  AEEREDIHELE
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases AR EW 2 ZEBSLBRAT
are receivable as follows: EAFRIPE I
2009 2008
ZEBAE —ZTN\EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Within one year —FRX 37 68
After one year but within five years —FREREFNA — 46
37 114
The Company did not have any operating lease RZZBEZENERZZEZNEF=A
arrangement under non-cancellable operating lease as at =+—H ' ARFIWERE A
31 March 2008 and 2009. LERBL AT AEERNOLH -
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31. XREE
The Group and Company had the following outstanding REER  ARERARFHATH

litigations at the balance sheet date:

(i) A writ was filed against the Group entities in respect
of a claim for reimbursement of expenses paid on
behalf of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$3,000,000 on 26 July 2006. The Company
was not aware of such alleged payments and had
instructed lawyers to deal with the matter. Based on
the written legal opinion from the legal counsel, the
board of directors is of the opinion that the claim is
not justifiable and without merit.

RTHEZERA

(i) RZZEZFELHA=—+/<8 -
AEBEERRESHK  BR

NERERAEB N 2RZH
3,000,000 7T ° A A 7 IR
MBEZEEW o HIE - WEE
AEMBELE - BEBEEER
MzEEEREER  EF2R
RERWEBEHYE - Bz
D o
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(i)

A writ was filed by Siu Ban & Sons Limited (“Siu
Ban”) against Sun Tai Hing, a subsidiary of the
Company, on 11 September 2007 in respect of
a claim for the return of the property of Sun Tai
Hing located in Hong Kong (the “Property”) and
damages for costs and loss of interest. Siu Ban
claimed that Sun Tai Hing did not pay the purchase
consideration for the acquisition of the Property in
May 2002. The Property was also charged by the
plaintiff for this claim, details of which are set out
in Notes 16 and 17. The board of directors is of the
opinion that the claim is not justifiable and without
merit.

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company’s existing share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) became effective on 22 October 2002. The
major terms of the Scheme, in conjunction with the

requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, are set out

as follows:

(i)

(iii)

The purpose of the Scheme is providing incentives
rewards to full-time employees and consultants of
the Group in recognition of their contribution to the
Group.

Subject to the terms of the Scheme, the directors
may, at their absolute discretion, invite full-time
employees of the Group including executive
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and consultants (the “Eligible Persons”) to take up
options to subscribe for shares.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the total issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED j5k # B FR 422 % /5 IR 2 7]
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
on the exercise of options granted and to be
granted (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant to each of the Eligible Persons shall not
exceed 1% of the total issued share capital of
the Company in issue unless (i) a shareholders’
circular is dispatched to the shareholders; (ii) the
shareholders approve the grant of the options
in excess of the limit referred to herein; and (iii)
the relevant Eligible Persons and their associates
abstain from voting on the resolution.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made to
the Eligible Persons by letter in such form as the
board of directors may from time to time determine
and shall remain open for acceptance by the
Eligible Persons concerned for a period of 28 days
from the date upon which it is made, provided that
no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the
10th anniversary of the adoption date or after the
Scheme has been terminated.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1
is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option. An option shall be deemed to have been
accepted when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the Eligible
Persons together with the said consideration of
HK$1 is received by the Company.

32. LItz Mm@

(iv)

(vi)

HERSEERATEL A
ZEM12EAHE - BE®
R TR 2 IR (B IE
BT R ARTEE ) BEITE
mE BT R T EITZRDE
N FBBAARRA R D BITRA
BEA%  BRIE()EMRRE
B A% B PR 5 (i) AR SR A IR
£ 7B 38 AN SR il PR 38 2 BE AR
T R(iVEBEERATR
HEE A TR AR R NE

B o

BREZZORZEEE I
NREEE < RABKTAER
ATEERH  MAEBALH
RELHHBES 28 HHARRA
B SO R B
10BF & LT B R IERE
MEA °

BEMBRER  ARARS
1B T2 FAIRERBANR
B MARRREHSERA
TIEARE Z KRB IR Rt
BIZAR - ER a1 ETTAE -
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(vii)  The exercise price for shares under the Scheme
may be determined by the directors at its absolute
discretion but in any event will not be less than the
highest of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(c) nominal value of shares.

Unless otherwise in the terms of the Scheme, an option
may be exercised any time during the period commencing
on the expiry of six calendar months after the date on
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted
and expiring on a date to be determined and notified by
the board of directors to each grantee, but in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of option but
subject to the early termination of the Scheme.

GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED j5k # B FR 422 % /5 IR 2 7]
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continved)  32. IRt ZRIE#)

The fair value of the share options granted during the year FARN 2 EBREATLERRERR
and the share-based payments recognised in income BRABROZMFZHAREBL(ZF
statement was HK$Nil (2008: HK$10,200,000). No share Z )\ : 10,200,000 L) o RAF
option was granted during the current year. SN0 B AR o
(a)  The following table shows the movements in the (a) TRETMEFSEARRARE
Company’s share options during the both years: w2 e
2009
“BEZNEF
Closing price
Outstanding immediately
at the Cancelled  Outstanding before the
beginning during at the end date of grant
Date of grant of year the year of year RERY
BHAY REDRRTE REMES RELBRRTHE AHEZKTE
HK$
AT

Directors:

B
Ip Wing Lun X 21/8/2007 6,912,000 (6,912,000) — 1.09
Lee Yiu Tung TR 21/8/2007 6,912,000 (6,912,000) — 1.09
Steven Steven 21/8/2007 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 1.09
McManaman McManaman
Wong Po Ling, TER 21/8/2007 6,912,000 (6,912,000) — 1.09
Pauline
22,736,000 (20,736,000) 2,000,000
Other employees ~ EftEE 7/6/2007 24,000,000 — 24,000,000 0.49
21/8/2007 24,384,000 (24,384,000) — 1.09

48,384,000 (24,384,000) 24,000,000

71,120,000 (45,120,000) 26,000,000

75k % B PR 428 iR B IR A ®] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED -1 05
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

32. LItz Mm@

(a)  (Continued) (a) (%)
2008
i 1 ¢
Closing
price
immediately
Granted Outstanding before the
Date of during Lapsed during at the end date of grant
grant the year the year of year BRI A A
A8 RERRH RERKR REBRXTE ZBHE
HK$
BT
Directors:
BE:
Ip Wing Lun ki 21/8/2007 6,912,000 = 6,912,000 1.09
Lee Yiu Tung BER 21/8/2007 6,912,000 = 6,912,000 1.09
Steven Steven 21/8/2007 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 1.09
McManaman McManaman
Wong Po Ling, IER 21/8/2007 6,912,000 = 6,912,000 1.09
Pauline
22,736,000 — 22,736,000
Other employees ~ AftfES 7/6/2007 24,000,000 = 24,000,000
21/8/2007 24,384,000 — 24,384,000 0.49
48,384,000 — 48,384,000 1.09
Consultants B
21/8/2007 22,000,000 (22,000,000) — 1.09
93,120,000 (22,000,000) 71,120,000

(b) The weighted average exercise price of the share
options outstanding during the year is HK$0.5482
(2008: HK$0.9646). The options outstanding at the
end of the year have a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 8.2 years (2008: 9.34 years).
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

At the balance sheet date and the date of approval
of these financial statements, the Company had
26,000,000 (2008: 71,120,000) share options
outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the remaining share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 26,000,000 (2008: 71,120,000)
additional ordinary shares of the Company which
represented 2.6% and 2.3% of the Company’s
shares in issue and as at the balance sheet
date and the date of approval of these financial
statements respectively, and result in additional
share capital of approximately HK$260,000 and
share premium of HK$13,993,000 (before issue
expenses).

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,

which are related parties of the Company, have been

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this

note. Details of transactions between the Group and other

related parties are disclosed below.

(a)

Commission of HK$784,000 was charged by
a shareholder of the Company as underwriting
commission in connection with an open offer of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2008.

Details of the amounts due to directors are set out
in Note 25.

Included in the Company’s and the Group’s accruals
and other payables as at 31 March 2009 was an
aggregate salaries and other allowances amount of
approximately HK$2,840,000 (2008: HK$2,375,000)
due to directors which is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

32. LItz Mm@

(b)

(%)

REEE B MAbERE S HRK B
B AR AR B ZET 8 E R
171 2 8 & # & 26,000,000
H(=ZZZ)\F : 71,120,000
) o RIBEBARRQRIRE 2 E R
g - (TE R TERER
B 21T 26,000,000 B (==
=)\ & : 71,120,000 f%) N 2
RIZEINER - HRIEARA
AR E B R 7N B S 3R
FEBZEETRG2.6% K&
2.3% ' i 5] 1 #9260,000 /&
JC 2 ¥8 50 A% 7K} 13,993,000
T2 0 m B (F0 R 1T
XA °

33. WEALXS
ARAREHEAR(AAR 2 BE
AL ZRFEREG A ARE S -
W MPAH PRI - AEEEE A
BEALZXBHER T ORE -

AQR—&REWRERAS
784,000 7T * tERARAR
HEZZEZENF=A=+—
HIEFERNAREE 2 BHA

& E B RIAF B R M T
23 ©

FARRRIRAEER=_ZT
NE=RA=+—HBZE5E
REAMERNRIBZ 2B RE
NEZFZFHe REMER 2
#72,840,0008 T(Z T TN
% : 2,875,000 7T ) * Ty &
HHR - RERIEEREE o
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33.

34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(d) Members of key management during the year
comprised only of the directors whose remuneration
is set out in Note 11.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the amounts due to directors under current
liabilities disclosed in Note 25 and outstanding Convertible
Notes in Note 27, cash and cash equivalents in Note 24
and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the management considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
has a target gearing ratio of 20 — 40% determined
as the proportion of net debt to equity. Based on the
management’s recommendations, the Group expects to
increase its gearing ratio closer to 30% through the issue
of new debts.
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BERKEER
(Continued)
The gearing ratios at the year end was as follows: RERZERBBLEERQOT
2009 2008
ZEThE e AN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Debts &8 9,486 10,583
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEMEEH (2,968) (7,055)
Net debt B F5E 6,518 3,528
Equity 1 (65,223) 12,646
Net debt to equity ratio B FRE A 2 X N/AF#EHA 28%

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. &R EEE

During the year, exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate FR - AEBRAEERBREELEZ

and currency risks arises in the normal course of the FE2RBAEERR  REBESE

Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity %~ FEERREERE o AEE IR

price risk arising from its equity investments in other entity. AEREMER CRAREEELERE

[E\fg e

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial b E R T XAl 2 ANEBE G B E

management policies and practices described below. BBURRAB GRS -

(a) Credit risk (a) EERE
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to AEBEZEERBREEHERE
its trade and other receivables. Management has W B 5 8RR R H b FE M GRIE EE
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these & o BEEEEHEIEEREER
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. WHBERZEEERR -
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual BLIE UL E Z) R 5k Fo H A & W 3K
credit evaluations are performed on all customers EHmME  LERKBRLE TSR
requiring credit over a certain amount. These N EEEZREPATESZER
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of SEHE - ZEHEETRE
making payments when due and current ability to FBRARKRIBE BN B4E
pay, and take into account information specific to S BRI BB - WER
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic BEEZHEERAREHATR
environment in which the customers operate. PR @ BIRIEZ BF - E—
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from BERLT  AEETEREP
customers. S m o

BLEEEIRE#2 BR 5 IR A 5] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 109
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the
balance sheet date, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 23 to the financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. &REMEEw)

(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) HEELREZ)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRAFMASEETEESR S
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s BERITESBEBER %QEIZ
non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative BRTAKNRNEE - BHEELHR
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual ARBERE(BREEAEGLD
undiscounted cash flows (including interest MR (B )IERNEE
payments computed using contractual rates, or ZRITHEFE 2 F BRI
if floating, based on rates current at the balance RARS BRI ge i 2RI R 2 &
sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can be EREBE
required to pay:
Total More than More than
contractual 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted  Within 1 year less than less than
amount cash flow or on demand 2 years 5 years
BANEER R-FRE —F AEH
The Group 350 EEE RaR BEX ERAERM BREER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
&1 FET &7 & FET
2009 —ZZnr%
Accruals and other EiERRAMER
payables FE 5,880 5,880 5,880 - -
Amounts due to ENESNE
directors 103,360 103,360 5,378 97,982 -
Convertible Notes TARZE 4,108 4,124 - - 4,124
113,348 113,364 11,258 97,982 4,124
2008 “ET)\E
Accruals and other JEsT 2 R R AL AT
payables B 5,588 5,588 5,588 - —
Amounts due to ENESNE
directors 108,565 108,565 10,583 97,982 —
114,153 114,153 16,171 97,982 —
.42 B KSR A5 FR A 7] GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 111
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Convertible Notes were issued at a fixed rate (i.e.
zero coupon interest) which expose the Group
and Company to fair value interest-rate risk. The
Group has no significant interest bearing financial
liabilities and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rate.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through its investment in quoted equity securities
in BCP with a carrying value of approximately
HK$60,419,000 (2008: HK$134,364,000) as at 31
March 2009 that are denominated in Pound Sterling
(“£”), which was acquired during the prior year.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2009, it is estimated that a general
1%) in
exchange rate of HK$ to £, with all other variables

appreciation/depreciation of 5% (2008:

held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s
consolidated loss and decrease/increase its
consolidated equity by approximately HK$3,021,000
(2008: HK$1,344,000).

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and
had been applied to each of the group entities;
exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date, and that all other variables,
in particular equity price, remain constant.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the next
annual balance sheet date. Results of the analysis
as presented above represent an aggregation of
the effects on each of the group entities’ equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the balance sheet date for presentation
purposes. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2008, where applicable.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from equity instruments classified
as available-for-sale financial assets. These
investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the
AIM. Decisions to buy and sell trading securities
are based on daily monitoring of the performance
of individual securities compared to that of the
indexes and other industry indicators, as well as the
Group’s liquidity needs. Listed investments held in
the available-for-sale portfolio have been chosen
based on their longer term growth potential and
are monitored regularly for performance against
expectations.

Sensitivity analysis
At 31 March 2009,
increase/decrease of 5% in the quoted market price

it is estimated that a general

of the equity investments, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s
consolidated loss and increase/decrease its
consolidated equity by approximately HK$3,021,000
(2008: HK$6,718,000).

35. £REEER )

(d)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
(e) Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the reasonably possible changes
in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to the exposure to equity
price risk in existence at that date. It is also
assumed that the fair value of the Group’s equity
investments would change in accordance with the
historical correlation with the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables and that all other
variables remain constant. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in the relevant stock market index
or the relevant risk variables over the period until
the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2008.

(f) Fair values and estimation basis

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not
materially different from their values as at 31 March
2009 and 2008. In respect of equity securities,
fair value is based on quoted market price at the
balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs. The estimate of fair value of the
conversion option embedded in Convertible Notes
is measured using an option pricing model.

36. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as recognised at 31 March 2009 and
2008 may be categorised as follows:

35. £RtAEER )

(e) MRMBR(%E)

BHEEDH(E)

BURE DM TR AT 5 Bk
H AR R b B 2 2 & R AT B
FHENEERELE  WERE
M % B 2 IR E R b
E ° B IMRERA S B2 B A
BEZ AV EERBEEMAARTIE
SRS A R o 2 2 B S R
mEs) - MprA H A B
NG o P il B B 45 IR E AR
12 s T i B a4 A e e 22 S
BEETAFEAERA LR Z
REMEEE L E - —FTF
NEZDHTIRAARERELETT

() 2XFERGEFEE

A ITAZ RAEEER
—ETNERZZBETNEF=
HA=t—BzEEHMEERE
£ o BAEFME - X FE
R EHE B 25 RE L&
MBEMRZBEA) BELE -
RN AR SRR 2 SRR E
B2 A HEMF HRAHEE
ERAFE -

36. BEGNEISCEMBEER
THMAREBE

AEEZSBAERBEN-TTAFR -
2E\F=A=+-RRRZEAETHH
T

2009 2008
ZEZBhE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets SMEE
Loans and receivables (including cash RE R ATTE 2 EFR R
and bank balances) measured at FEWFIA(BIER e &
amortised cost RITHERR) 4,158 8,698
Available-for-sale financial assets BAFEGFEZAHEE
measured at fair value SREE 60,419 134,364
Financial liabilities eRAR
Quasi-equity loan EREMEEER 95,068 95,068
Financial liabilities measured at amortised  Z# KA E S RIAE
cost 17,971 19,085
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37. SIGNIFICANT POST BALANCE
SHEET NON-ADJUSTING EVENT

(i)

(i)

The Company entered into termination agreement
on 5 June 2009 with Pacific Capital to cancel
and terminate the subscription agreement and
the supplemental agreement in respect of the
Convertible Notes under mutual agreement. The
Company and Pacific Capital agreed to release and
discharge each other from all obligations under
subscription agreement and the supplemental
agreement. Further details are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 7 June 2009.

On 7 June 2009, Great Luck Management Limited
and Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson (“Vendors”), the
Company and the placing agent entered into
the top-up placing and subscription agreement
pursuant to which, the Vendors agreed to place,
through the placing agent, an aggregate of
150,000,000 existing shares. The gross proceeds
from the top-up subscription are HK$60,000,000.
The net proceeds of approximately HK$58,000,000
from the top-up subscription are intended to be
used as general working capital of the Group, for
expansion of the Group’s business and/or possible
investments in the future when opportunities arise.
The details of the top-up placing and subscription
agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 June 2009.

38. COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2009 and 2008,

the Company and the

Group did not have any capital commitment.

38.

EXRHA®RFRARER

(i)

(i)

R=ZFEZAE~AHA " EX
‘A7) K Pacific Capital 75 R=
T EHEI R IR - A
R IEBEBETRBRRE 2 RE R
KT o ANA Al & Pacific
Capitallﬁ%ﬁ@&ﬁﬂ%\xﬁﬁ’\\
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o
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HL#EE

Results EY | 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZEBAE 2 —ETN\E —TTLEFE —TTRFE —ETHE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET FEr FEr
Turnover = 10,660 20,595 42,813 43,428 101,974
(Loss)/profit before BRI (EE),
taxation piawll (91,755) (151,715) (11,050) (59,607) 11,174
Taxation B8 78 (418) — (20,003) (1,293)
(Loss)/profit before B B SR M 2R Al
minority interests (B18),w= Al (91,677) (152,133) (11,050) (79,610) 9,881
Attributable to equity N2 RIIRIERFH A
holders of the FE1G
Company (91,677) (152,133) (11,050) (79,610) 9,881
Minority interests DHRR R S — = = = (7,721)
(Loss)/profit RARRERFEA
attributable to FEfH (EE),/
equity holders of the &7l
Company (91,677)  (152,133) (11,050) (79,610) 2,160
Assets and liabilities TER& & 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZEZThE —TENEF -8 S —TTREF —TTRF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEBEAE 68,629 147,381 23,175 41,424 99,573
Total liabilities BEBAE (133,852)  (134,735) (23,230) (38,173) (14,450)
Minority interests DB R A — — — — (2,262)
Total equity RARPRESEB A
attributable to FE(GRES sl
equity holders of the
Company (65,223) 12,646 (55) 3,251 82,861
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